
 

 
 

 
Oaklands Road  
Haywards Heath  
West Sussex  
RH16 1SS 

 
Switchboard:  01444 458166 

 
DX 300320 Haywards Heath 1 

www.midsussex.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Working together for a better Mid Sussex 

 
 

3 January 2020 
 

 
Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of CABINET will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER at these offices on MONDAY, 

13TH JANUARY, 2020 at 4.00 pm when your attendance is requested. 

 
Yours sincerely, 

KATHRYN HALL 

Chief Executive 

 

A G E N D A 
 

  Pages 

1.   To receive Declarations of Interest from Members in respect of any 
matter on the Agenda. 
 

 

2.   To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

3.   To confirm Minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 November 
2019. 
 

3 - 8 

4.   To consider any items that the Leader agrees to take as urgent 
business. 
 

 

5.   Performance Monitoring for the Second Quarter of 2019/20. 
 

9 - 32 

6.   Approval of the Recommendations Contained in the Hassocks 
Neighbourhood Plan Examination Report 
 

33 - 102 

7.   To consider whether to exclude the Press and Public from the meeting 
during consideration of the following items in accordance with Section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act. 
 

 

8.   To confirm the Exempt Minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 
2019. 
 

103 - 104 

 



 
 
To: Members of Cabinet: Councillors J Ash-Edwards (Chair), J Llewellyn-Burke (Vice-Chair), 

J Belsey, R de Mierre, S Hillier, A MacNaughton and N Webster 
 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020



 
 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Cabinet 
held on Monday, 18th November, 2019 

from 4.01 pm - 4.40 pm 
 
 

Present: J Ash-Edwards (Chair) 
J Llewellyn-Burke (Vice-Chair) 

 
 

J Belsey 
R de Mierre 
 

S Hillier 
A MacNaughton 
 

N Webster 
 

 
 

Also Present: Councillor Gibson 
 
 
 

1. TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FROM MEMBERS IN RESPECT OF 
ANY MATTER ON THE AGENDA.  
 
Councillor de Mierre declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 7 as she produces 
marketing material for The Orchards. 
 

2. TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  
 
Apologies none as all Members were present. 
 

3. TO CONFIRM MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 14 OCTOBER 
2019.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2019 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Leader.  
 

4. TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS THAT THE LEADER AGREES TO TAKE AS URGENT 
BUSINESS.  
 
None. 
 

5. ANSTY VILLAGE CENTRE TRUST.  
 
Elaine Clarke, Community Facilities Project Officer introduced the report to seek 
approval for a number of proposals relating to a development at the Council’s Ansty 
Recreation Ground. The report sought the allocation of £100,000 to enable the 
delivery of a £1.4m project of a new combined Village Hall, Sports Pavilion and 
Social Club. She highlighted that the project will be delivered in three phases.   
 
The officer noted that to date the Parish Council, Cricket Club and Social Club has 
raised over £700k.  The project funding has a shortfall of £100k and the report asks 
for this to be provided from Council Reserves.  
 
The report detailed the four leases which would permit the use of the current village 
hall site as a car park, lease the new development and car park to Ansty Village 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 3

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
 

Centre Trust, grant a lease on the groundsman’s store to Ansty Cricket Club and re-
grant a lease with amended right of way to Ansty Cricket Club to provide access 
rights over the Recreation Ground to the Club’s extension.   
 
The officer noted an amendment to paragraph 8 of the report, it should have read:  
‘’AVHT was awarded a Facility Grant of £17,440 in 2009 towards the costs of re-
providing the Village Hall.  AVCT was awarded a Facility Grant of £127,000 toward 
the project on 30 May 2013 (£16,959 ring-fenced for Stage 2) and a further £214,402 
on 29 October 2019, funded through the release S106 contributions.’’  
 
The Leader confirmed that the robust project had taken a while to reach this stage 
and the aspiration of the Ansty Village Centre Trust was sound.  The project would 
be beneficial to the District and would provide for the growth of sports facilities 
including sport for women.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Community noted the current use of the facilities and that 
this would increase in the future.  The development will increase the value of the 
facility to the wider community of Mid Sussex.  He congratulated the Trust.  
 
Several Cabinet Members asked for an assurance that  this would be the final 
payment from Council Reserves to complete the project and asked what 
contingencies the Trust had if there was an overspend or delay in construction. 
 
The Officer highlighted the need for the project to commence on site and that 
construction must be completed by September 2020. She advised Cabinet that 
Heads of Terms had already been agreed and the legal paperwork should be signed 
so the Trust can start development in January 2020.  The project had contingencies 
for unexpected costs and they were reasonable for a project of this scale.   
 
Peter Stuart, Head of Corporate Resources confirmed that the Trust had been 
informed in meetings that no more Council Reserves would be awarded to them, and 
they are satisfied with that arrangement. 
 
The Leader noted that no more Members wished to speak so took them to the 
recommendation contained in the report, which was agreed unanimously.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 

(i) recommend to Council the grant of £100,000 to the Ansty Village Centre Trust 
funded through Reserves;  

 
(ii) take a 150 year lease of the existing village hall site from the Ansty Village 

Hall Trust for the purposes of using the land as a car park serving the 
Recreation Ground 

 
(iii) grant a 150 year lease of the site of the new Village Hall, Sports Pavilion and 

Social Club and Car Park (including the site of the existing village hall) to 
Ansty Village Centre Trust at a peppercorn rent for the purposes of using the 
land as a Village Hall, Sports Pavilion and Social Club with ancillary 
Recreation Ground Car Parking following practical completion of the Scheme. 

 
(iv) grant a 28 year lease of the groundsman’s store at Ansty Recreation Ground 

to Ansty Cricket Club together with ancillary rights to maintain the cricket 
wicket on the Recreation Ground and use of the cricket outfield 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 4



 
 

 
 

 
(v)  take a surrender of and re-grant a lease with an amended route to Ansty 

Cricket Club’s to give them access rights over the Recreation Ground to the 
Club’s extension to the north of the Recreation Ground 

 

6. BUDGET MANAGEMENT 2019/20 - HALF YEAR PROGRESS REPORT.  
 
Peter Stuart, the Head of Corporate Resources introduced the report.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Community highlighted the good work with disabled facilities 
grants and noted that the Council worked in partnership with other District and 
Borough Councils so grants are provided fairly and equally across West Sussex, 
using the same parameters for implementation.  He acknowledged the success of 
Basepoint in Haywards Heath. The report indicated the good financial management 
of the Council.  
 
The Deputy Leader confirmed the Council’s sound financial position and noted the 
variations on capital projects which were well explained in the report and will be 
addressed.  With regard to the modernisation of the Council Chamber, she advised 
that the Council should exercise caution when spending tax payers’ money.  The 
Deputy Leader also noted the ongoing work to maintain the leisure centres to a high 
standard. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Customer Services welcomed the performance of 
Basepoint.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning highlighted spending on temporary 
accommodation. This was despite the Council’s far sighted work to purchase its own 
temporary accommodation. 
 
The Deputy Leader noted that the cleansing on the A23 had not been completed as a 
road closure was required for the safety of the workforce. Agreement by Highways 
England was required for this and was often difficult to achieve. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Economic Growth asked for more details on the Anscombe 
Wood Regeneration project so local residents could be updated. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive advised that the Council was working with their own 
contractors and the developers to identify what work is required. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
Cabinet resolved to recommend to Council for approval: 
 
(i) that £75,000 be transferred to Specific Reserve from General Reserve to 

cover the cost of Gatwick Studies as detailed in paragraph 21; 
 
(ii)  that £90,000 One Public Estate government grant income in respect of 

Burgess Hill Station Quarter Project be transferred to Specific Reserve as 
detailed in paragraph 22; 

 
(iii)  that £17,484 grant income relating to Local Authority EU Exit preparation 

Grant be transferred to Specific Reserve as detailed in paragraph 23; 
 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 5



 
 

 
 

(iv)  that £24,737 grant income relating to Individual Electoral registration (IER) in 
2019/20 be transferred to Specific Reserve as detailed in paragraph 24; 

 
(v) that £9,225 grant income relating to new Burdens Business Rates be 

transferred to Specific Reserve as detailed in paragraph 25; 
 
(vi)  that ££68,762 to meet the costs arising from St. Francis, Haywards Heath – 

Anscombe Wood Regeneration be transferred to Specific Reserve as detailed 
in paragraph 26; 

 
(vii)  the variations to the Capital Programme contained in paragraph 36 in 

accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure rule B3. 
 
To note: 
(viii)  the remainder of the report. 
 

7. REGENERATION OF THE ORCHARDS SHOPPING CENTRE.  
 
Peter Stuart, the Head of Corporate Resources introduced the report.  

 
The Leader supported the report and its recommendations.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning welcomed the report and the 
importance of vibrant town centres.   
 
The Deputy Leader highlighted that The Orchards is a complicated asset to own and 
the Council needs to try and maximise the potential income and provide an asset for 
the local community in a very challenging retail environment.  She confirmed that 
professional advice is essential. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Community reminded Members that the centre was bought 
as a long term investment.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Economic Growth supported the report and noted the good 
planning in the town centres, especially Burgess Hill. He welcomed the Masterplan 
for Haywards Heath.  
 
 
The Deputy Leader welcomed the proposed use of the Reserves to develop options 
for the centre.  
  
The Leader noted that no more Members wished to speak so took them to the 
recommendation contained in the report, which was agreed unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
  

(i) note the use of the Orchards Specific Reserve to secure the appropriate 
resources and external expertise to progress viability work, in order to create 
options to modernise and improve the centre public realm and also develop a 
detailed leisure proposal. 

 
(ii) agree to delegate budgetary responsibility to procure necessary architects 

and consultants, instructing via the Scape Framework, to the Head of 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 6



 
 

 
 

Corporate Resources. 
 

 (iii)  note that a further report will be presented to Cabinet in due course to set out 
progress and make detailed recommendations for construction works. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

The meeting finished at 4.40 pm 
 

Chairman 
 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 7



This page is intentionally left blank



PERFORMANCE MONITORING FOR THE SECOND QUARTER OF 2019/20 

Purpose of Report 

1. This report provides the Cabinet with information about the Council’s performance for 
the second quarter of 2019/20 from July to September 2019.  It uses the performance 
indicators previously agreed by the Committee on 12th March 2019.  The report also 
updates on progress on delivery of the Council’s currently identified flagship activities. 

Summary 

2. Performance in the second quarter of 2019/20 has been good overall, with most 
services performing at or close to target.  In the small number of cases where service 
targets are not being fully met, the reasons for this are clearly understood and 
appropriate action is being taken.  

Recommendations  

3. Cabinet is recommended to note the Council’s performance and progress with 
flagship activities in the second quarter of the year and identify any areas 
where further reporting or information is required. 

Introduction 

4. This report has previously been considered by the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, 
Finance and Performance on 20th November 2019.  Issues raised by the Committee 
are summarised in paragraphs 10 to 13. 

5. One of the functions of the Committee is to regularly monitor the performance of the 
Council’s services, with a view to determining whether any additional scrutiny is 
required of specific services, particularly if performance is not of a satisfactory level.   

6. Performance indicator information for the second quarter is provided at Appendix A.  
This is set out in tabular form using a traffic light system as explained below: 

 red – 10 percent or more off target   

 amber – slightly off target (less than 10 percent) 

 green – on or exceeding target  

 health check - indicator for information only 

REPORT OF: HEAD OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
Contact Officer: Neal Barton, Policy, Performance and Partnerships Manager  

Email: Neal.Barton@midsussex.gov.uk  Tel: 01444 477588 
Wards Affected: All 
Key Decision: No 
Report to: Cabinet  
 13th January 2020 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Neal.Barton@midsussex.gov.uk


7. The Committee also has responsibility for monitoring progress with the flagship 
activities identified in the Corporate Plan for 2019/20.  This again is set out in tabular 
form using a traffic light system as follows: 

 Green – project is on track 

 Amber – the project is off target and requires action to address this 

 Red – the project is off target and unlikely to deliver as planned, which will require 
a change in the project’s scope. 

Performance Indicators 

8. Performance continues to be good across the Council, with a small number of 
exceptions.  The second quarter position in comparison with the previous financial 
year is summarised below:  

Quarter 2  Green  Amber  Red  Health check Total 

2019/20 40 (74%) 7 (13%) 7 (13%) 14 68 

2018/19 32 (78%) 9 (22%) 0 15 56 

 

Flagship Activities 
 

9. At the end of the second quarter, 17 Activities were rated at green, 4 at amber and 
none at red.  For activities shown as amber in the report, senior officers have 
reviewed and agreed actions to ensure that outcomes will be delivered as proposed.  

Consideration of the Performance Report by the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, 
Finance and Performance at its meeting on 20th November 2019 

10. The performance of the Revenues and Benefits service was discussed and the 
implications of the proposed new Banded Income Council Tax Support Scheme.  It 
was confirmed that the new scheme would reduce the number and complexity of 
changes of circumstances, which is likely to improve processing times. 

11. The Committee asked about the prosperity of the District’s shopping centres and 
progress with plans for improvement to the Orchards.  The Leader confirmed that a 
report had been submitted to the last meeting of Cabinet to consider options for the 
regeneration of the Orchards Shopping Centre. 

12. Progress with the provision of electric vehicle charging points in the District was 
discussed and concerns about the non-operation of the existing points in Burgess Hill.  
It was noted that this was down to UK Power Networks to resolve. 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 10



13. Members asked about progress with improving the percentage of household waste 
sent for reuse, recycling and composting.  The Leader updated on progress with the 
food waste pilot and arrangements being finalised with West Sussex County Council.  
Contamination rates in recycling collections were discussed and the measures taken 
to address this.  This had implications for recycling rates and the amount of waste 
going to landfill. 

Conclusions 

14. The Council’s services continued to perform well in the second quarter of 2019/20.  
Where performance is below target, corrective action aimed at improvement has been 
planned and is being delivered.  Good progress has also been made with the flagship 
activities for 2019/20. 

Risk Management Implications 
 
15. There are no risk management implications associated with this report. 

Equalities Implications 

16. There are no direct equality implications contained within this report. Equality impact 
assessments are undertaken within individual services as required. 

Financial Implications 

17. There are no direct financial implications contained within this report.  

Background papers 
 
None. 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Cabinet 13th January 2020- Quarter 2 2019/20 Performance Report 

 

 

PI Status 

 
OK – on target 

 
Warning –slightly off target (up to 10%) 

 
Alert – off target (10% or more) 

 
Data Only 

 

Flagship Activity Status 

 
On track 

 
Off target- requires action 

 
Off target – unlikely to deliver and 
requires change in project’s scope 

 

 
   

 

Community Portfolio - Cllr Norman Webster 

 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Building Control  

The percentage of plans received by Building Control 

which are checked within 15 working days 
85% 87%  87% 87%  

Q2 2019/20 = 318 plans 

Q2 2018/19 = 301 plans 

  

Building Control Site inspections carried out within 

24 hours of date requested. 
99% 99%  99% 99%  

Q2 2019/20 = 2,268 inspections 

Q2 2018/19 = 2,118 inspections 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

13



 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Community Services, Policy and Performance 

Resolved anti-social behaviour cases 91%   70%   
70 out of 100 ASB cases received 

in ytd have been resolved 

Overall Crime Rate per 1,000 population. 11.36   12.21    

Number of health and wellbeing interventions 

delivered 
510 570  507 470   

Proportion of health and wellbeing interventions 

resulting in health improvement 
81% 80%  89% 80%  

This indicator involves calling 

back three months after the 

intervention to monitor whether 

it has led to a sustained 

improvement. 

Closed cases of families worked with by the Early 

Intervention Family Project where outcomes are met 

or partially met 

100%   75%   Casework open with 12 families. 

 

  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

14



 

 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Environmental Health 

Proportion of Environmental 

Health service requests which are 

actioned and resolved within 3 

months of receipt 

98% 96%  97% 96%  

Q2 2019/20 = 748 service requests 

Q2 2018/19 = 684 service requests 

 

Requests for services can be across the range of 

Environmental health activities including 

licensing, housing standards, environmental 

protection and food hygiene. 

 

Percentage of Environmental 

Health service requests that are 

responded to within five working 

days 

99% 97%  98% 97%  
Q2 2019/20 = 1,355 service requests 

Q2 2018/19 = 1,169 service requests 

Disabled Facilities Grants 

completed 
40   74    

Land Charges 

The percentage of Local Authority 

Searches replied to within 5 

working days 

100% 96%  100% 96%  

Q2 2019/20 = 740 searches 

Q2 2018/19 = 613 searches 

 

Legal and Member Services 

The percentage of agendas which 

are published on the website 5 

days before a meeting 

100% 100%  100% 100%   

Number of legal cases which are 

live as at the end of each month 
398   339    

 
 
 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

15



 

Flagship activities  

 

Project name Planned Outcome 
Lead 

Officer 

Start  

Date 

End  

Date 
Status Commentary 

Disabled Facilities 

Grants 
Adopt the County-wide policy 

and funding for Disabled 

Facilities Grants by 31 March 

2020 

 

Tom 

Clark 
04/19 03/20  

 At the end of September the Council 

has delivered 74 disabled facilities 

grants.  57 new grants have been 

approved to enable people to live 

independently in their own home 

 Continued work with other West 

Sussex councils to agree a single 

policy. 

Community 

Wellbeing 

Programme 

Develop & deliver a 

comprehensive community 

wellbeing programme that meets 

the requirements of the new 

three year wellbeing service 

contract specification from WSCC 

Public Health 

 

Peter 

Stuart 
04/19 03/22  

 Quarter one performance report 

submitted to WSCC Public Health 

Team showing all expected outcomes 

achieved. 

Reducing crime 

and anti-social 

behavior on public 

spaces and 

involving and 

affecting youth 

Reduction in anti-social behavior 

amongst young people, 

especially taking place on the 

District’s public spaces. 
Peter 

Stuart 
01/19 03/20  

 The consultation on the introduction of 

a Public Space Protection Order 

(PSPO) in Burgess Hill on the anti-

social use of vehicle activity ended on 

17 September. 

 Projects to address ASB amongst 

young people have been implemented. 
 
 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

16



 

Customer Services Portfolio - Cllr Ruth de Mierre 

 
 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Customer Services and Communications 

Number of Complaints received 72   58   

A breakdown of the main services in receipt of 

complaints in the quarter is shown below, 

together with an indication of the major causes of 

the complaints: 

Waste Management = 29 (misplaced bins 

following collection, problems with assisted 

collections, green bin collections) 

Planning = 8 (handling of planning applications, 

delay in response to enforcement action). 

Parking = 6 (issuing of Penalty Charge Notices, 

on-street parking enforcement) 

Revenues = 7 (issuing of summons, refusal of 

single adult discount) 

Corporate Estates & Facilities = 3 (standard of 

pathway repair, EV charging point not working) 

Community Services, Policy and Performance = 3 

(issuing of Anti-Social Behaviour notices) 

Average waiting time (in seconds) 

to speak to a customer services 

officer for all services answered in 

the Customer Contact Centre, 

including switchboard. 

18 30  21 30  

22,090 calls received by Customer Services 

Centre in Q2  

 

8,237 personal callers to reception in Q2 

Percentage of enquiries resolved 

at point of Contact 
86% 75%  91% 75%  

This indicator currently only monitors the 

successful submission of forms and the Council is 

looking to upgrade the telephone system to 

measure calls resolved at point of contact. 

Number of Compliments received 79   94   
The main services in receipt of compliments 

were: 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

17



 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Customer Services & Communications = 31  

Waste and Outdoor Services = 22  

Development Control = 17  

Corporate Estates = 6  

Housing = 3  

Landscapes = 3  

Parking = 3  

Democratic Services/Elections = 3 

Revenues = 2  

Number of e-forms submitted 

directly by the public 
6,517   6,695    

Monthly customer satisfaction 

scores 
100% 80%  100% 80%  

Customer satisfaction is being measured by 

phoning back a sample of customers who had 

previously contacted the Customer Service 

Centre.  

Percentage of complaints 

responded to within published 

deadlines 

99% 100%  100% 100%  

The published deadline for responding to 

complaints is to acknowledge within 5 days and 

respond within 10 working days. 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

18



 

 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Human Resources 

Staff sickness absence rate 

(Cumulative days per FTE staff) 
1.40 2.00  3.85 3.85   

Staff turnover 1.97% 3%  4.93 6%   

Ethnic Minority representation in 

the workforce 
3.6%   3.6%    

Percentage of Employees with a 

Disability 
7.2%   7.2%    

ICT and Digital 

The percentage of ICT help desk 

service requests completed within 

the target time agreed with the 

customer 

95% 90%  96% 90%   

Percentage of ICT helpdesk calls 

outstanding 
17% 20%  16% 20%   

Freedom of Information Requests 

responded to within 20 working 

days. 

99% 100%  99% 100%   

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

19



 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Revenues and Benefits 

Speed of processing - new 

Housing Benefit claims (days) 
18 20  18.4 20  

Q2 2019/20 = 100 claims 

Q2 2018/19 = 193 claims 

The number of claims is decreasing with the 

introduction of Universal Credit (UC). September 

2019, figures show 2,500 UC claimants in Mid 

Sussex. 

Speed of processing - new Council 

Tax Support claims (days) 
20.5 20.0  20.2 20.0  

Q2 2019/20 = 323 claims 

Q2 2018/19 = 314 claims 

Speed of processing - changes of 

circumstances for Housing Benefit 

claims (days) 

8.5 8  9.8 8  

Q2 2019/20 = 2,526 changes 

Q2 2018/19 = 4,085 changes 

Although there are less Housing Benefit claims, 

they are tending to be more complex as the 

simpler claims have moved to Universal Credit. 

Speed of processing - changes of 

circumstances for Council Tax 

Support claims (days) 

7.3 8  8.8 8  
Q2 2019/20 = 3,304 changes 

Q2 2018/19 = 3,659 changes 

Percentage of Council Tax 

collected 
29.3% 29.9%  57.1% 57.7%  

Although the collection rate is just below target, 

in cash terms there has been a £4 million (7%) 

increase in Council Tax collected to £63.8m from 

£59.8m in the same period of last year. 

Percentage of Non-Domestic 

Rates Collected 
28.8% 28.1%  57.7% 57.7%  

Q2 2019/20 = £27.6m collected 

Q2 2018/19 = £27.9m collected 

With the addition of the new £1.5m retail relief 

there is less NDR to collect this year. 

LA Overpayment Error £18,841 £29,802  £35,040 £59,604  
These indicators reflect the focus of the service 

on the accuracy of assessment, rather than just 

the speed of processing.  The level of 

overpayment error is well below the DWP 

threshold for the loss of Housing Benefit Subsidy. 

Accuracy in Assessment 93.6% 92.0%  93.6% 92.0%  

 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

20



 

 
Flagship activities  

 

Project name Planned Outcome 
Lead 

Officer 

Start  

Date 

End  

Date 
Status Commentary 

Council Tax 

Support Scheme 

New Council Tax 

Support Banded 

Income Scheme from 

April 2020 

 

Peter 

Stuart 
04/19 04/20  

 Consultation on new scheme completes 1st November 

 Report to Scrutiny Committee 20th November 

Windows 10 

Deployment 

Deliver efficiency 

savings through the 

increased use of 

digital approaches to 

services by 

implementing 

Windows 10 

Simon 

Hughes 
10/18 12/19  

 Infrastructure upgrades complete, piloting in progress 

 Forecast overspend (£65,000) mitigated by adjusting scope 

and service contributions to hardware costs   

 
 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

21



 

Deputy Leader Portfolio – Cllr Judy Llewellyn-Burke 

 
 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Finance 

Percentage of undisputed invoices 

paid within 10 days of receipt 
 

97.2% 95.0%  97.3% 95.0%  
Q2 2019/20 = 1,193 invoices processed 

Q2 2018/19 = 1,159 invoices processed 

Property and Asset Maintenance 

The percentage of rent due 

collected 
96% 97%  94% 97%  

Collection is just below the target level due to a 

small number of cases where there are rent 

disputes. 
 
 
 
Flagship activities  

 

Project name Planned Outcome 
Lead 

Officer 

Start  

Date 

End  

Date 
Status Commentary 

Commercial property 

investment 

 

Income generation to 

offset financial 

challenges 

Peter 

Stuart 
04/19 03/20  

 Project Initiation Document in draft for strategy to be 

prepared by March 2020 

Invest in our assets Increased income 

earning potential 

Peter 

Stuart 

04/19 03/20 

 

 Resource priority is currently being given to the work 

below on The Orchards as a key asset. It is intended to 

re-scope the project to focus on the development of 

asset management strategy over the longer term. 

 

Orchards Shopping 

Centre Strategic Plan 

Regeneration of the 

Centre to ensure it is 

fit for future purpose 

Peter 

Stuart 

07/19 03/21 
 

 Cabinet agreement sought to appoint consultants to 

scope works. 

 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

22



 

Economic Growth Portfolio – Cllr Stephen Hillier 

 
 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Economic Development 

Footfall in the shopping centres of 

the District’s three main towns 

+2.7% 

increase 

over 

same 

quarter 

last year 

  

+8.1% 

increase 

over 

same 

quarter 

last year 

  

Reliable figures are currently only available for 

footfall in the Orchards shopping centre, 

Haywards Heath. Officers are investigating 

options for the installation of similar monitoring 

systems in Burgess Hill and East Grinstead. 

Micro business grants – funds 

awarded compared to total grant 

received 

18% 18%  88% 88%  

The target is to award 100% of the £71,428 

available in the year, with grants awarded 

through the Cabinet Grants Panel.  99.5% of the 

available funding has now been awarded. 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

23



 

 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Parking Services 

The percentage of enquiries 

relating to enforcements within 

Parking Services which are dealt 

with within 10 days. 

100% 100%  100% 100%   

The percentage of car park 

machines repaired within 2 days 

(there are 55 parking machines in 

the District) 

98% 99%  100% 99%   

Cancellation rate of Penalty 

Charge Notices 
7% 7%  7% 7%   

The percentage of pay and display 

transactions made by cashless 

payments 

34% 25%  35% 25%  

Cashless payments include payment at the pay 

and display machines and via pay by phone 

platforms. 

With Portfolio Holder agreement the target for 

percentage of cashless parking transactions is 

being increased to 37% by the end of the year to 

reflect the growth in business.  
 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

24



 

Flagship activities  

 

Project name Planned Outcome 
Lead 

Officer 

Start  

Date 

End  

Date 
Status Commentary 

Parking Strategy 

Refresh 2020 – 

2031 

Delivery of a new 

Parking Strategy for 

Mid Sussex. 

 

Judy 

Holmes 
04/19 03/20  

 Consultants appointed and work has commenced 

 Project on schedule  

 First Working Group meeting has been held and 

further meetings set up 

 

Shopfront 

Improvement 

Scheme 

Improvements 

delivered to the shop 

fronts for five East 

Grinstead retailers 

plus any other 

appropriate retailers 

who can be support 

with any remaining 

balance once the five 

East Grinstead grants 

have been awarded. 

 

Judy 

Holmes 
10/18 03/20  

 Portfolio Holder agreement to approach further 

retailers in East Grinstead in order to allocate 

unspent funding has been secured 

Local Full Fibre 

Network 

Fibre Network across 

Burgess Hill and 

Strategic Link to 

Brighton 
Simon 

Hughes  
10/18 03/21  

 Detailed Design completed for Scaffold Network 

and Dark Fibre link to Brighton Digital Exchange. 

 Commercialisation model developed. 

 The project has passed Checkpoint 'C' ready to 

deliver with conditions placed on the Council that 

need to be discharged by 30th November. 
 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

25



 

Environment & Service Delivery Portfolio – Cllr John Belsey 

 
 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Landscapes 

% Satisfaction with the grounds 

maintenance service 
 

96% 95%  95% 95%   

Leisure Operations 

The number of visits made to the 

Leisure Centres and Civic Halls 
 

452,392 433,112  443,782 421,431   

Sustainability 

Usage of Council-owned electric 

vehicle charging points in public 

car parks (amount of energy used 

in kWH) 

3,407 12,500  2,330 12,500  

Figures reflect electricity supply problems to the 2 

charging points at Cyprus Road car park in 

Burgess Hill.  

Greenhouse gas emissions from 

Council buildings (kg) 
111,226 125,861  87,093 125,861  Target is a 3% per annum reduction. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

26



 

 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Waste and Outdoor Services 

% satisfied with refuse collection, 

recycling collection and street 

cleansing 

89.4% 87%  81.3% 87%  

The 2019/20 Q2 result has been suppressed by 

an abnormally high proportion of customers 

responding that they were neither satisfied nor 

dissatisfied with the service (nearly 7% this 

quarter compared with an average of 1.4% over 

the previous 3 quarters). The proportion of those 

actively expressing dissatisfaction has remained 

broadly consistent across the same period, at just 

over 5%. 

Amount of waste per household 

which is disposed of in landfill 

sites (kilos) 

101 102  106 102  
This change may reflect the overall increase in 

the amount of general waste being collected 

Percentage of household waste 

sent for reuse, recycling and 

composting 

47.30% 45.00%  45.24% 45.00%   

Number of subscriptions to green 

waste composting 
19,217   19,792    

Number of missed collections per 

100,000 
53 75  54 75   

% of relevant land assessed as 

having below acceptable levels of 

litter 

N/A 4% N/A 11.17% 4%  

In response to the previous target being 

consistently met and to secure further 

improvement, working with Serco the Council has 

agreed a more robust approach to reviewing the 

cleanliness of the District. This has resulted in a 

new stretching baseline for 2019/20 from which 

improvement in performance will be measured 

going forward. 

% of relevant land assessed as 

having below acceptable levels of 

detritus 

N/A 6% N/A 10.5% 6%  

  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

27



 

 
Flagship activities  

 

Project name Planned Outcome 
Lead 

Officer 

Start  

Date 

End  

Date 
Status Commentary 

Deliver more 

electric vehicle 

charging points 

Expansion of Electric Vehicle 

Charging Infrastructure 

 
Peter 

Stuart 
04/19 03/21  

 Revised delivery date proposed to 

March 2021. 

 Procurement programmed for Q3. 

 OLEV bid to be submitted November 

2019. 

Mid Sussex Cycle 

Network 

Identification of evidenced-based 

cycle routes 

 

Peter 

Stuart 
04/19 03/20  

 Commencing procurement of feasibility 

work. 

Reduce residual 

waste collection 

and increase 

recycling 

In partnership with the waste 

disposal authority, WSCC, trial a 

weekly food waste collection 

service, alongside weekly 

collections of absorbent hygiene 

products and reduction in residual 

waste collections across 1,500 

homes. 

 

Judy 

Holmes 
TBC TBC  

 Subject to negotiation and agreement 

of principles, funding and governance 

arrangements with West Sussex 

County Council. 

Parks Investment 

Programme 

Plan and deliver improvements in 

support of the Play and Amenity 

Green Space Strategy for six key 

parks in 2019-21.  
Judy 

Holmes 
05/19 06/21  

 Tenders for Master Planning have been 

received (all within the expected 

budget). 

 Condition surveys in progress to 

enable development of an Asset 

Management Plan  

 

Develop leisure 

studies for the 

district. 

Develop studies for the provision 

of Playing Pitches, Play & Amenity 

Green Spaces and Community 

Buildings in the District. 

 

Peter 

Stuart 
04/18 03/20  

 Studies at final draft stage. 

 Next steps to develop Action Plan for 

the District by March 2020. 

 
 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

28



 

Housing and Planning Portfolio – Cllr Andrew MacNaughton 

 
 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Development Management 

Validation of planning applications 

within 5 working days 
98.67% 98%  99% 98%  

2019/20 = 1,179 applications processed in ytd  

2018/19 = 1,341 applications processed in ytd 

The average time taken to 

process planning applications 

(days) 

65 65  63 65   

Costs awarded against the Council 

where the decision of the Council 

is overturned at Planning appeal 

£00   £1,400   

The costs relate to the partial award regarding an 

appeal against an enforcement notice.  The 

subsequent appeal was, however, dismissed and 

the Notice upheld. 

Processing of planning 

applications: Major applications 

within 13 weeks 

100% 80%  100% 80%  
2019/20 = 24 applications processed in ytd 

2018/19 = 34 applications processed in ytd 

Processing of planning 

applications: Minor applications 

within 8 weeks 

98% 85%  99% 85%  
2019/20 = 200 applications processed in ytd 

2018/19 = 201 applications processed in ytd 

Processing of planning 

applications: Other applications 

within 8 weeks 

100% 94%  99% 94%  
2019/20 = 583 applications processed in ytd  

2018/19 = 674 applications processed in ytd 

Planning appeals allowed 29% 33%  21% 33%   

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

29



 

 
Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 

Latest Note 
Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Housing 

Number of households assisted to 

access the private rented sector 

(cumulative) 

23 19  36 38  

The Council’s Rent in Advance and Deposit 

Guarantee Scheme helps those with insufficient 

funds to rent privately.  In a buoyant private 

sector, landlords are increasingly reluctant to 

accept those in receipt of benefits. 

Number of households accepted 

as homeless 
19 20  14 20   

Number of households living in 

temporary accommodation 
67 85  61 85   

Number of households in nightly 

paid temporary accommodation 
39 17  32 17  

This service is demand led and despite increasing 

the provision of temporary accommodation, 

demand for temporary accommodation is 

increasing as the Council receive more service 

requests. 

The average amount of time a 

household has spent in temporary 

accommodation overall when they 

leave following the acceptance of 

a full homelessness duty (days) 

244 250  275 250  

The Council is broadly meeting this target 

however a number of households have 

accommodation, but this is not yet ready for 

occupation. 

Number of affordable homes 

delivered (gross) 
80   118   

118 new affordable homes have been delivered in 

the year, 97 (82%) rented; 21 (18%) shared 

ownership. 

% of policy compliant section 

106's signed in the year on sites 

meet the affordable housing 

threshold 

100% 85%  100% 85%  
9 out of 9 schemes in this quarter have met the 

policy requirement. 

 
  

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

30



 

 
Flagship activities  

 

Project name Planned Outcome 
Lead 

Officer 
Start  

Date 

End  

date 
Status Commentary 

Improve the 

provision of 

Temporary 

Accommodation 

for Homeless 

Households 

Deliver 30 units of Temporary 

Accommodation through a mix 

of acquired and leased 

properties thereby improving 

the standard and location of 

such accommodation whilst 

also reducing the Council’s 

spend on nightly paid guest 

house 

 

Judy 

Holmes 
08/18 03/20  

 13 properties have been purchased and are 

occupied   

Northern Arc Delivery of the Northern Arc 

Strategic Development 

 

Judy 

Holmes 
04/18 02/32  

 Outline planning for the Northern Arc site 

application approved on the 3rd October. 

Site Allocations 

Development Plans 

To identify new housing and 

employment sites across the 

District to meet the need 

identified in the District Plan; 

Identify and safeguard 

associated community 

infrastructure needs required to 

support this level of 

development 

 

Judy 

Holmes 
04/18 03/21  

 Site Allocations DPD Consultation Draft 

approved by Full Council on 25th September 

 Consultation period 9th October – 20th 

November 

Haywards Heath 

Master Plan  

Adopted Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) 

 

Judy 

Holmes 
04/19 03/20  

 Project on track for Draft SPD to be 

considered by Committee in January for 

consultation during Spring 2020   

Conservation Area 

Appraisal and 

Management Plan 

for East Grinstead 

Adopted Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) 

 
Judy 

Holmes 
04/19 03/20  

 Project on track for Draft SPD to be 

considered by Scrutiny Committee on 23rd 

October for adoption by Cabinet Member 

during Autumn 2019. 

 
 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPROVAL OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS CONTAINED IN THE HASSOCKS 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN EXAMINATION REPORT 

REPORT OF: Divisional Leader for Planning and Economy 

Contact Officer: Alma Howell 
Email: Alma.Howell@midsussex.gov.uk Tel: 01444 477063 

Wards Affected: Hassocks 

Key Decision: Yes 

Report to: Cabinet 13th January 2020 

  
 

Purpose of Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval of the recommended 
modifications to the Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan following independent 
Examination in respect of the Basic Conditions for Neighbourhood Plans.  

Summary 

2. Hassocks Parish Council submitted a revised Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan to Mid 
Sussex District Council for Examination on 28th June 2019. An Independent 
Examiner was appointed to examine the Plan which took place between September – 
November 2019. The Examiner considered the representations received and 
determined that no public hearing was required.  

3. The Examiner has issued his  final report and concludes that subject to a number of 
modifications, the Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan can proceed to Referendum. It is 
recommended that the proposed modifications are accepted by the District Council.  

4. Mid Sussex District Council as the Local Planning Authority (LPA) must publish a 
‘Decision Statement’ setting out how the Neighbourhood Plan will be modified in 
response to the Examiner’s Report.  

Recommendations  

5. It is recommended that Cabinet: 

a)  formally accepts the Examiner’s recommended modifications to the       
Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan to enable the Plan to proceed to 
Referendum;  

b) agrees to publish the ‘Decision Statement’ as set out at Appendix 2 of the 
report. 

Background 

6. The District Council supports communities who wish to prepare Neighbourhood 
Plans. Altogether 17 Neighbourhood Plans have been ‘Made’ (adopted) in the 
District, with three remaining parishes Hassocks, Horsted Keynes and Copthorne, at 
different stages in the process.  

 
7. Hassocks Parish Council is the ‘qualifying body’ with responsibility for preparing the 

Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan. The Parish Council started their preparation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan for its Parish in July 2012 when the Neighbourhood Plan area 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 33

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Alma.Howell@midsussex.gov.uk


was designated by the District Council. However, after reaching Submission stage, 
the first Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan was formally withdrawn on 4th January 2019, 
due to the new housing requirement set out in the District Plan. 

 
Revised Hassocks Neighbourhood Development Plan  

8.   The Parish Council embarked on a revised Neighbourhood Plan with public 
consultation on a Regulation 14 (Pre-submission) Neighbourhood Plan taking place 
in February 2019. The Parish Council formally submitted their revised Regulation 16 
Neighbourhood Plan to the District Council for Examination on 28th June 2019.  

 
9. The Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan covers the plan period 2014 to 2031 and has 

been prepared for a designated neighbourhood area which follows the Hassocks 
Parish boundary.  

 
10.  The Plan sets out a vision and objectives for the Parish and, in line with paragraph 14 

of the National Planning Policy Framework, it contains a series of policies to protect 
the environment, heritage, sustainability, community facilities and the local economy.  

 
11. The Plan does not propose to allocate any sites for housing instead the 

Neighbourhood Plan contains policies that support the District Plan housing 
allocation for 500 dwellings at Clayton Mills and the development for 165 dwellings at 
Hassocks Golf Club.   

 
12. The Neighbourhood Plan also contains the following polices: 
 

 Policy 1: Local Gap which seeks to maintain the separate identity and 
amenity between Keymer/Hassocks and Ditchling; Keymer/Hassocks and 
Hurstpierpoint and Keymer/Hassocks and Burgess Hill.  

 Policy 2: designating a number of Local Green Spaces (LGS) which are 
areas demonstrably special to the local community by virtue of their beauty, 
biodiversity, tranquillity, heritage or recreational function and are protected 
from development. 

13. The Neighbourhood Plan was published by the District Council for public consultation 
from 22nd July until Monday 16th September 2019 along with a focused consultation 
until Monday 14th October 2019 to ensure that everyone who responded to the 
Regulation 14 (Pre-submission) consultation was given the opportunity to respond to 
the Regulation 16 Submission. 69 representations were received during the 
consultation period. A summary of the representations can be found at: 
https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/media/4466/summary-of-representations-to-the-
regulation-16-submission-hassocks-neighbourhood-plan.pdf 

14. The District Council has worked proactively with the Parish Council to ensure the 
best success for the Neighbourhood Plan at Examination and has provided informal 
and formal comments on the Neighbourhood Plan as it has progressed through the 
various stages. The progression of the Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan to this stage is 
recognised as an important milestone, the result of a considerable amount of hard 
work by the Steering Group on behalf of the Parish Council. Many of the policies in 
the Neighbourhood Plan support the Mid Sussex District Plan policies and add local 
distinctiveness. 

15. The District Council however, has consistently advised the Parish Council that LGS1 
(Land to the north of Shepherds Walk part of The Friars Oak applications sites), 
LGS2 (Land at the Ham) and LGS4 (Land to the east of Ockley Lane) are not in 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 34

https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/media/4466/summary-of-representations-to-the-regulation-16-submission-hassocks-neighbourhood-plan.pdf
https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/media/4466/summary-of-representations-to-the-regulation-16-submission-hassocks-neighbourhood-plan.pdf


general conformity with Government policies in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) or advice set out in the National Planning Practice Guide (NPPG) 
and should therefore be removed as LGS designations in the Neighbourhood Plan. In 
addition, the District Council advised that only land that is clearly needed to prevent 
coalescence should be covered by the Local Gap designation. In this respect, land at 
Friars Oak, which was identified by a Planning Inspector and supported by the 
Secretary of State in the appeal decision (Appeal reference – 
APP/D3830/V/17/3166992), as not contributing to coalescence should not be 
included within the Local Gap designation.  

Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan Examination 

16.  In agreement with Hassocks Parish Council, Mid Sussex District Council appointed 
an Independent Examiner, Mr Andrew Ashcroft to review whether the Neighbourhood 
Plan met the Basic Conditions, as required by legislation and to recommend whether 
it should proceed to Referendum.  

17. The Examiner’s report was sent to the District Council on 16th December 2019 and is 
included at Appendix 1 of this report. The Examiner in his summary commented that:  
“The Plan includes a range of policies and seeks to bring forward positive and 
sustainable development in the neighbourhood area. There is a very clear focus on 
safeguarding local character and providing a context within which new homes can be 
accommodated within the context of the recently-adopted Mid Sussex District Plan.” 

18. Officers at the District Council have reviewed the Examiner’s report. The Parish 
Council will provide its formal position on the Examiner’s recommendations following 
its meeting on 7th January 2020. This will be reported verbally to Cabinet. 

Key Recommended Modifications by Examiner to the Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan 

19. The Examiner’s key recommendations are:  

 Retention of Policy 1- Local Gaps but modifications to the wording of this 
policy are recommended  to ensure that uses that accord with national and 
local policies for development in the countryside are not prevented by this 
policy; 
 

 Modification to the Local Gap policy boundary to remove the parcels of land 
that are identified for development within the application sites of planning 
applications DM/18/2342 and DM/19/1897 (Land at Friars Oak) from the 
Hassocks – Burgess Hill Local Gap as shown in Appendix 1 to the Examiner’s 
report; 

 

 Retention of five Local Green Space (LGS) designationsbut the deletion of 
LGS1 (Land to the north of Shepherds Walk part of The Friars Oak 
applications sites), LGS2 (Land at the Ham) and LGS4 (Land to the east of 
Ockley Lane). The Examiner considers that these designations do not meet 
the NPPF tests as being demonstrably special and, in addition, planning 
permission has been granted for development at Land at Friars Oak; 

 

 Modification to the wording of Policy 2  - Local Green Spaces to make it more 
precise and to comply with the wording in the NPPF to say that ‘Proposals for 
development within designated Local Green Spaces will only be supported in 
very special circumstances’; 

 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 35



 Modification to Policy 17 - Affordable Housing on the basis that the second 
and third parts of this policy relate to the MSDC Housing Allocation Scheme 
which is not a land use matter and in any case is described in the supporting 
text; 
 

 Deletion of criteria 3 and 4 of Policy 5 relating to Enabling Zero Carbon. The 
Examiner considers that criterion 3 is a process matter rather than a land use 
policy. The fourth criteria conflicts with the Government’s Ministerial 
Statement (2015) which states that Neighbourhood Plans should not set out 
technical requirements relating to the performance of new dwellings and this 
requirement has not been tested for impacts on viability; 

 

 Modifications to Policy 11 Outdoor Space so that this policy conforms with Mid 
Sussex District Council’s Development, Infrastructure and Contributions SPD 
to take account of the flexibility to contribute towards more substantial 
facilities off site; 
 

 Deletion or significant amendment to the Foreword as the Examiner considers 
this contains statements which are not factually correct or are potentially 
misleading. The foreword will need updating to refer to the next stages of the 
Neighbourhood Plan process; 

 

 The inclusion of a section on monitoring of the effectiveness of the 
implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan and a review process to take into 
account future potential changes to the wider Development Plan. 

Decision Statement 

20.  The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 state that a Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) must publish what actions will be taken in response to the 
recommendations of the Examiner. This is known as the ‘Decision Statement’. 

21.  Details of each modification recommended by the Examiner are set out in the 
proposed Decision Statement at Appendix 2.     

22. The Neighbourhood Plan Regulations impose no obligations for the Examiner or the 
LPA to have to consult on the changes to the Plan which they are minded to accept. 
Those that do not endorse the plan have the chance to vote to reject it at 
Referendum. Should a LPA decide not to accept an Examiner’s recommendations it 
must notify those that made representations of their proposed decision (and the 
reason for it) and invite representations for a period of 6 weeks. 

23. As the LPA, Mid Sussex District Council is recommending that all the modifications 
are accepted therefore there is no requirement to carry out any further consultation.  

24. It is recommended that Cabinet formally accept the Examiner’s modifications as they 
are considered to be necessary for the Neighbourhood Plan to meet the Basic 
Conditions tests. 

Next Steps 

25. Following approval by Cabinet and the publication of the Decision Statement, the 
Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan can proceed to Referendum. It is provisionally agreed 
that the Referendum will be held on Thursday 5th March 2020. If over 50% of those 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 36



voting are in favour of the Neighbourhood Plan, then the Plan can be ‘Made’ 
(adopted) by the District Council and will form part of the statutory Development Plan 
for Hassocks Parish and used in the assessment and determination of planning 
proposals. 

Policy Context 

26. The National Planning Policy Framework and the Localism Act 2011 support 
Neighbourhood Plans. The Mid Sussex District Plan was adopted in March 2018 and 
the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans is part of its overall development strategy. 
Neighbourhood Plans will sit alongside the District Plan and set out how local 
communities wish their neighbourhoods to evolve.  

Other Options Considered 

27. Cabinet has the option not to accept the recommendations of the Independent 
Examiner on all of the elements, one of the elements, or some of the elements 
contained within the Examiner’s Report. However, this is not considered appropriate 
as the modifications are considered necessary in order for the Neighbourhood Plan 
to meet the Basic Conditions. 

Financial Implications 

28. The cost of the Examination is £7,000 and the Referendum will cost £11,000. These 
costs can be met from Government grant once the Plan achieves a successful 
Referendum.  

Risk Management Implications 

29.  The Examiner has recommended modifications to ensure the Neighbourhood Plan 
meets the Basic Conditions. If these modifications are not implemented the Plan 
would be at risk of legal challenge on the basis it does not meet the legal 
requirements for Neighbourhood Development Plans.  

Equality and Customer Service Implications  

30. An Equality Impact Assessment was carried out at the Submission (Regulation 16) 
Stage of the Neighbourhood Plan. The Parish Council also prepared a Consultation 
Statement demonstrating how they have consulted the local community and statutory 
consultees. The Examiner was satisfied that the consultation and publicity 
undertaken meets regulatory requirements. 

Other Material Implications 

31. There are no other material considerations. 

Appendices 

1. The Independent Examination Report into the Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan. 

2. Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan Decision Statement. 

Background Papers 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 37



 Hassocks Submission (Regulation 16) Neighbourhood Plan -  
https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/planning-building/neighbourhood-plans/ 

 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 38

https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/planning-building/neighbourhood-plans/


Hassocks Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 
2014-2031 

A report to Mid Sussex District Council on the 
Hassocks Neighbourhood Development Plan

Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner 
BA (Hons) M.A. DMS M.R.T.P.I. 

Director – Andrew Ashcroft Planning Limited 

APPENDIX 1

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 39



Executive Summary 

1 I was appointed by Mid Sussex District Council in July 2019 to carry out the 
independent examination of the Hassocks Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

2 The examination was undertaken by written representations. I visited the 
neighbourhood plan area on 2 and 3 October 2019. 

3 The Plan includes a range of policies and seeks to bring forward positive and 
sustainable development in the neighbourhood area.  There is a very clear focus on 
safeguarding local character and providing a context within which new homes can be 
accommodated within the context of the recently-adopted Mid Sussex District Plan. It 
addresses two principal issues – the proposed designation of three Local Gaps and a 
suite of local green spaces. 

4 The Plan has been underpinned by community support and engagement.  It is clear 
that all sections of the community have been actively engaged in its preparation. 

5 Subject to a series of recommended modifications set out in this report I have 
concluded that the Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan meets all the necessary legal 
requirements and should proceed to referendum. 

6 I recommend that the referendum should be held within the neighbourhood area. 

Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner 
16 December 2019 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 40



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report sets out the findings of the independent examination of the Hassocks 
Neighbourhood Development Plan 2014-2031 (the ‘Plan’). 

1.2 The Plan has been submitted to Mid Sussex District Council (MSDC) and to the 
South Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA) by Hassocks Parish Council in its 
capacity as the qualifying body responsible for preparing the neighbourhood plan.  

1.3 Neighbourhood plans were introduced into the planning process by the Localism Act 
2011.  They aim to allow local communities to take responsibility for guiding 
development in their area.  This approach was subsequently embedded in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012 and its updates in 2018 and 2019. 
The NPPF continues to be the principal element of national planning policy. 

1.4 The role of an independent examiner is clearly defined in the legislation. I have been 
appointed to examine whether or not the submitted Plan meets the basic conditions 
and Convention Rights and other statutory requirements. It is not within my remit to 
examine or to propose an alternative plan, or a potentially more sustainable plan 
except where this arises as a result of my recommended modifications to ensure that 
the plan meets the basic conditions and the other relevant requirements.  

1.5 A neighbourhood plan can be narrow or broad in scope. Any plan can include 
whatever range of policies it sees as appropriate to its designated neighbourhood 
area. The submitted plan has been designed to be distinctive in general terms, and to 
be complementary to the development plan in particular.  It has a clear focus on 
maintaining the integrity of the village. It proposes three Local Gaps and a suite of 
local green spaces 

1.6 Within the context set out above this report assesses whether the Plan is legally 
compliant and meets the basic conditions that apply to neighbourhood plans.  It also 
considers the content of the Plan and, where necessary, recommends changes to its 
policies and supporting text. 

1.7 This report also provides a recommendation as to whether the Plan should proceed 
to referendum.  If this is the case and that referendum results in a positive outcome 
the Plan would then be used to determine planning applications within the 
neighbourhood area and will sit as part of the wider development plan. 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 41



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

2   The Role of the Independent Examiner 

2.1 The examiner’s role is to ensure that any submitted neighbourhood plan meets the 
relevant legislative and procedural requirements. 

2.2 I was appointed by MSDC, with the consent of the Parish Council, to conduct the 
examination of the Plan and to prepare this report.  I am independent of MSDC, the 
SDNPA and the Parish Council.  I do not have any interest in any land that may be 
affected by the Plan. 

2.3 I possess the appropriate qualifications and experience to undertake this role.  I am a 
Director of Andrew Ashcroft Planning Limited. In previous roles, I have over 35 years’ 
experience in various local authorities at either Head of Planning or Service Director 
level.  I am a chartered town planner and have significant experience of undertaking 
other neighbourhood plan examinations and health checks.  I am a member of the 
Royal Town Planning Institute and the Neighbourhood Planning Independent 
Examiner Referral Service. 

Examination Outcomes 

2.4 In my role as the independent examiner of the Plan I am required to recommend one 
of the following outcomes of the examination: 

(a) that the Plan is submitted to a referendum; or
(b) that the Plan should proceed to referendum as modified (based on my

recommendations); or
(c) that the Plan does not proceed to referendum on the basis that it does not

meet the necessary legal requirements.

2.5 The outcome of the examination is set out in Sections 7 and 8 of this report. 

Other examination matters 

2.6 In examining the Plan I am required to check whether: 

• the policies relate to the development and use of land for a designated
neighbourhood plan area; and

• the Plan meets the requirements of Section 38B of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (the Plan must specify the period to which it
has effect, must not include provision about development that is excluded
development, and must not relate to more than one neighbourhood area); and

• the Plan has been prepared for an area that has been designated under
Section 61G of the Localism Act and has been developed and submitted for
examination by a qualifying body.

2.7 I have addressed the matters identified in paragraph 2.6 of this report. I am satisfied 
that the submitted Plan complies with the three requirements.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 42



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

3 Procedural Matters 

3.1 In undertaking this examination I have considered the following documents: 

• the submitted Plan;
• the Basic Conditions Statement;
• the Consultation Statement;
• the submitted Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating Strategic Environmental

Assessment);
• the non-technical summary of the Sustainability Appraisal;
• the MSDC HRA screening report;
• the MSDC Equalities Impact Assessment;
• the Review of Policy 1 (Local Gaps);
• the Review of Policy 2 (Local Green Spaces;
• the Local Green Spaces Policy Review October 2018;
• the Local Green Space Review June 2016;
• the Landscape Character Assessment;
• the broader Evidence Base and other background documents;
• the Parish Council’s responses to my Clarification Note;
• MSDC’s responses to my Clarification Note;
• the representations made to the Plan;
• the adopted Mid Sussex District Plan;
• the adopted South Downs Local Plan;
• the National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019);
• Planning Practice Guidance (March 2014 and subsequent updates); and
• relevant Ministerial Statements.

3.2 I carried out an unaccompanied visit to the neighbourhood area on 2/3 October 2019.  
I looked at its overall character and appearance and at those areas affected by 
policies in the Plan in particular.  My visit is covered in more detail in paragraphs 5.9 
to 5.20 of this report. 

3.3 It is a general rule that neighbourhood plan examinations should be held by written 
representations only.  Having considered all the information before me, including the 
representations made to the submitted Plan, I was satisfied that the Plan could be 
examined without the need for a public hearing.  I advised MSDC of this decision 
after receiving the responses to the clarification note.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 43



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

4 Consultation 

Consultation Process 

4.1 Policies in made neighbourhood plans become the basis for local planning and 
development control decisions.  As such the regulations require neighbourhood plans 
to be supported and underpinned by public consultation. 

4.2 In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 the 
Parish Council has prepared a Consultation Statement.  This Statement sets out the 
mechanisms used to engage all concerned in the plan-making process. It also 
provides specific details about the consultation process that took place on the second 
pre-submission version of the Plan (January to February 2019). It captures the key 
issues raised in a proportionate way in Section 10 of the Statement 

4.3 The Statement is commendably thorough and comprehensive. It also takes account 
of the protected nature of the plan-making process. As the Statement describes the 
initial Pre-submission Plan (Regulation 14) was formally published for consultation in 
January and February 2016. The Submission Documents were subsequently 
prepared and submitted to MSDC in June 2016. The Submission Plan and 
associated documents underwent further public consultation in July 2016-September 
2016. In light of feedback from the ongoing Examination of the Mid Sussex District 
Plan (MSDP), in particular with respect to the overall level of housing need MSDC 
advised that the District Council considered that the Neighbourhood Plan should not 
proceed to Examination at that time. It advised that progress should be delayed until 
agreed housing figures for the overall District requirement and for individual 
Neighbourhood area totals were available. On this basis progress on the Plan was 
paused until the District Plan was adopted in March 2018.  

4.4 The Statement helpfully describes the ways in which the more recent preparation of 
the Plan built on the consultation exercises undertaken in the earlier period from 
2012 to 2016. It sets out details of the comprehensive range of consultation events 
that were carried out in relation to the initial stages of the Plan. They included: 

• the initial consultation (November 2012);
• the organisation of a parish-wide questionnaire (May to July 2014);
• the organisation of a public event (September 2014);
• the production of a housing needs document (November 2014);
• a public stakeholder’s event (January 2015);
• The Young Persons Survey;
• The Business and Tourism Questionnaire (April 2015); and
• Consultation on Housing Sites (July 2015)

4.5 The Statement provides specific details on the comments received as part of the 
consultation process on the pre-submission version of the Plan. It identifies the 
principal changes that worked their way through into the submission version. This 
process helps to describe the evolution of the Plan. Tables 1 and 2 of the Statement 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 44



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

set out the comments received within this period and the Parish’s Council’s 
responses to the matters raised. The overall assessment is very detailed.  

4.6 It is clear that consultation has been an important element of the Plan’s production. 
Advice on the neighbourhood planning process has been made available to the 
community in a positive and direct way by those responsible for the Plan’s 
preparation.  

4.7 From all the evidence provided to me as part of the examination, I can see that the 
Plan has promoted an inclusive approach to seeking the opinions of all concerned 
throughout the process. MSDC has carried out its own assessment that the 
consultation process has complied with the requirements of the Regulations. 

Representations Received 

4.8 Consultation on the submitted plan was undertaken by MSDC for a six-week period 
that ended on 16 September 2019.  This exercise generated comments from a range 
of organisations as follows: 

• West Sussex County Council Asset Management
• Batchellor Monkhouse
• SGN
• Mackie Avenue Residents Association
• Southern Water
• Natural England
• Hunterspoint and Sayers Parish Council
• Surrey County Council
• Clayton with Keymer Parochial Church Council
• Friars Oak Residents Association
• Mid Sussex District Council
• West Sussex County Council – Planning Policy
• Gladman Developments Limited
• Environment Agency
• Mr C Brace
• Rydon Homes
• Basic Pause Limited
• Globe Homes
• South Downs National Park Authority
• Mr C.L. Marlow

4.9 In addition 49 representations were received from local residents. I have taken all the 
various representations into account in examining the Plan. Where it is appropriate to 
do so, I highlight specific representations on a policy-by-policy basis in Section 7 of 
this report.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 45



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

5 The Neighbourhood Area and the Development Plan Context 

The Neighbourhood Area 

5.1 The neighbourhood area consists of the parish of Hassocks. Its population in 2011 
was 7667 persons living in 3414 houses. It was designated as a neighbourhood area 
in July 2012 by MSDC and in September 2012 by the South Downs National Park 
Authority. It is an irregular area running in a north to south alignment with the London 
to Brighton railway running through its middle part.  It is located to the south of 
Burgess Hill, to the east of Hurstpierpoint and to the west of Ditchling. Whilst the 
neighbourhood area is dominated by Hassocks it is predominantly a rural parish and 
much of its area is in agricultural use.  

5.2 The principal settlement in the neighbourhood area is Hassocks. It is located in the 
centre of the neighbourhood area. It has distinct parts based either on its historic 
development around the alignment of the railway. The traditional village core is based 
on and around Keymer Road. It includes the principal commercial facilities in the 
neighbourhood area and the railway station. Keymer is located to the east of the 
village centre. Whilst it has now largely been incorporated into the wider village its 
historic core remains clear around the junction of Keymer Road and Ockley Lane in 
general, and St Cosmas and St Damian’s Church in particular. More modern 
development is located to the north of both the village centre and Keymer. The 
separate hamlet of Clayton is located to the south of Hassocks. The history of the 
Parish is reflected in its two separate conservation areas – one in Keymer and one in 
Clayton. 

5.3 The remainder of the neighbourhood area consists of a very attractive agricultural 
hinterland. The part of the neighbourhood area to the south and east of Hassocks is 
within the South Downs National Park. In this context the character of the 
neighbourhood area is dominated by the north-facing steep chalk scarp slopes of the 
South Downs. They include an important area of species rich chalk grassland. The 
National Park provides a very clear and obvious southern boundary of Hassocks and 
Keymer.  

Development Plan Context 

5.4 The development plan covering the neighbourhood plan area is comprehensive. It 
consists of the adopted Mid Sussex District Plan and the adopted South Downs Local 
Plan. The neighbourhood plan is in the fortunate place that both of these local plans 
are relatively recently-adopted.  

5.5 The Mid Sussex District Plan includes a comprehensive range of policies.  Policy DP1 
Sustainable Economic Development, DP4 Housing and DP6 Settlement Hierarchy of 
the District Plan provide key elements of the strategic approach of the District Plan. 
New growth is largely based around the well-defined settlement hierarchy in the 
District. Burgess Hill, East Grinstead and Haywards Heath are identified as category 
1 settlements. Hassocks and Keymer is one of a series of larger villages (acting as 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 46



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

Local Service Centres) identified as category 2 settlements. The principal new 
development proposed within the neighbourhood area is that of a strategic allocation 
to the north of Clayton Mills (Policy DP11). It includes 500 new homes and a new 
school.  

5.6 In addition the following policies in the District Plan have been particularly important 
in influencing and underpinning the various policies in the submitted Plan: 

 DP12 Protection and Enhancement of the Countryside 
DP13 Preventing Coalescence 
DP14 Sustainable Rural Development and the Rural Economy 
DP15 New Homes in the Countryside 
DP24 Leisure and Cultural Facilities and Activities 
DP25 Community Facilities and Local Services 
DP26 Character and Design 
DP29 Noise, Air and Light Pollution 
DP31 Affordable Housing 
DP35 Conservation Areas 

Since the Plan was submitted MSDC has published a consultation draft (Regulation 
18) of its Sites Allocations Development Plan document. Its role is to identify
additional sites throughout the District to accommodate its residual housing
requirement. This document proposes the allocation of land to the north of
Shepherds Walk, Hassock (SA24) for approximately 130 dwellings. It is one of 22
proposed housing allocations throughout the District to supplement the strategic
allocations already included in the adopted District Plan.

5.7 The southern and eastern parts of the neighbourhood area are located within the 
South Downs National Park. As such future development in this area is controlled by 
the adopted South Downs Local Plan. The Plan was adopted in July 2019 
immediately before the examination of the submitted neighbourhood plan. It is 
primarily a landscape-led Plan. Strategic Policies SD4,5 and 6 address Landscape 
Character, Design and Views respectively.  

5.8 The submitted Plan has been prepared within its wider adopted development plan 
context. In doing so it has relied on up-to-date information and research that has 
underpinned existing planning policy documents in the District. This is good practice 
and reflects key elements in Planning Practice Guidance on this matter. It is also 
clear that the submitted Plan seeks to add value to the different components of the 
development plan and to give a local dimension to the delivery of its policies. This is 
captured in the Basic Conditions Statement. 

Unaccompanied Visit 

5.9 I carried out an unaccompanied visit to the neighbourhood area on 2 and 3 October 
2019. I was fortunate in selecting dry days in an otherwise very wet week. This gave 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 47



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

me the opportunity to look carefully at those parts of the neighbourhood area affected 
by the various policies in the submitted Plan.  

5.10 I drove into the neighbourhood area from Burgess Hill from the north along the A273. 
This gave me an initial impression of its setting and the character. It also highlighted 
its connection to the strategic road system and to Burgess Hill.  I saw the scale and 
the nature of the proposed Local Gap between Keymer/Hassocks and Burgess Hill. 

5.11 I parked in Shepherds Walk off London Road. Given the relatively compact nature of 
the village and the pleasant nature of the weather I was able to carry out the majority 
of the visit on foot. I looked initially at the area around the Friar Oak PH. I saw the 
emerging housing site on the western side of London Road. I then found the footpath 
on the eastern side of the road and walked into proposed local green space 1(land to 
the north of Shepherds Walk). I saw that it was uncultivated agricultural land divided 
into two separate fields. I saw the well-established trees and hedges on its western 
and eastern boundaries together with the vegetation along the boundary between the 
two fields. I followed the well-defined footpath that runs through the southern part of 
the site adjacent to the dwellings off Shepherds Walk to the south.  

5.12 Thereafter I continued along the footpath, over the railway line and into proposed 
local green space 8. I saw its relationship to the Clayton Mills housing development 
to the immediate south and the associated play area. I saw that it was located at an 
intersection of several well-used footpaths in this part of the village. I was also able to 
see the strategic housing site allocated in the District Plan (and as featured in Policy 
16 of the submitted Plan). The openness of this part of the village afforded extensive 
views to the north of the village and into the proposed Local Gap between 
Keymer/Hassocks and Burgess Hill (in this case to the east of the railway line). I had 
clear views of the Burgess Hill water tower. 

5.13 I then walked along the footpath into the Clayton Mills residential development. I saw 
the proposed local green space 3 and the way in which it provided natural vegetation 
and associated open space in the heart of the community. I continued along the 
footpath into Woodsland Road, and Chancellor Park. I saw the Infant School as I 
walked into the village centre. Once I arrived in the village centre, I walked up to the 
station. I saw its central importance within the village and the frequency of trains 
stopping at the station. I also saw the healthy range of national and independent 
retail and other commercial services in the village centre. I then walked along Grand 
Avenue up to The Thatched Inn PH. Along the way I looked at Adastra Park and saw 
its range of recreational facilities.  

5.14 I then walked through proposed local green space 4 (land to the east of Ockley 
Lane). I followed the well-defined path along the diagonal route through the middle of 
the field. I appreciated the impressive views to the South Downs. I was also able to 
see the scale, extent and the landscape features of the proposed wider 
Keymer/Hassocks and Ditchling Local Gap within which the proposed local green 
space is located. I continued along the footpath and found my way into Church Mead 
and Keymer Road. 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 48



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

5.15 I spent some time in and around Keymer village. I looked at St Cosmas and St 
Damian church. I saw its distinctive apse and its well-maintained churchyard and 
granite war memorial. I saw the various domestic buildings along Keymer Road and 
the impressive Old Manor House. I walked down Lodge Lane and saw the various 
Edwardian and early twentieth century houses in this part of the village. I found the 
footpath on the west side of the road and followed it through to the proposed local 
green space 5 (land to the south of Downlands). I saw that it was a very well-
maintained community field, owned and managed by the Downlands Community 
School and the Hassocks Community Partnership.  

5.16 I traced my steps back along the footpath and Lodge Lane to Adastra Park and the 
Parish Centre. It was being well-used at the end of the school day. The skateboard 
park was very popular. I also saw the work being undertaken to fell the Turkey Oak in 
the Park. I spent a quiet few moments in the well-maintained and peaceful Garden of 
Remembrance.  

5.17 I walked through the village centre and under the railway to London Road. I saw the 
new houses being built to the west of the road. I found the route of the diverted 
footpath and followed it round to proposed local green space 2 (Land at The Ham). I 
saw the open grazing land and the storage container in its south eastern corner. I 
took the opportunity to look at the proposed Keymer/Hassocks and the Hurstpierpoint 
local gap from the north western corner of the field. 

5.18 On 3 October I concluded the visit by looking at Clayton village and the two local 
green spaces between Clayton and Hassocks. I parked in the attractive and well-
arranged Clayton Wood Natural Burial ground. I saw its attractive setting to the 
immediate north of the South Downs. I followed the footpath to the east over the 
railway line into proposed local green space 7 (land at Pheasant Field). I saw that it 
was open grassland and meadows surrounded by trees and with footpaths round the 
edges. It was being well used by dogwalkers. I also saw much evidence of the 
excellent and on-going work of the Monday Club. I also took the opportunity to walk 
into the proposed local green space 6 (land to the west of the railway line).  

5.19 I then drove into Clayton. I saw the church and the attractive grouping of buildings 
along Underhill Lane. 

5.20 Given the significance of the importance and geographic scale of the proposed local 
gaps I drove to Ditchling and Hurstpierpoint. I left the neighbourhood area along the 
A273 towards Burgess Hill.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 49



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

6 The Neighbourhood Plan and the Basic Conditions 

6.1 This section of the report deals with the submitted neighbourhood plan as a whole 
and the extent to which it meets the basic conditions. The submitted Basic Conditions 
Statement has helped considerably in the preparation of this section of the report. It 
is a well-presented and informative document. It is also proportionate to the Plan 
itself.   

6.2 As part of this process I must consider whether the submitted Plan meets the Basic 
Conditions as set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  To comply with the basic conditions, the Plan must: 

• have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by
the Secretary of State;

• contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;
• be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan in

the area;
• be compatible with European Union (EU) and European Convention on

Human Rights (ECHR) obligations; and
• not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (7).

6.3 I assess the Plan against the basic conditions under the following headings. 

National Planning Policies and Guidance 

6.4 For the purposes of this examination the key elements of national policy relating to 
planning matters are set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
issued in February 2019. This approach is reflected in the submitted Basic Conditions 
Statement.  

. 
6.5 The NPPF sets out a range of core land-use planning issues to underpin both plan-

making and decision-taking.  The following are of particular relevance to the 
Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan: 

• a plan led system– in this case the relationship between the neighbourhood
plan and the adopted Mid Sussex District Plan and the adopted South Downs
Local Plan;

• delivering a sufficient supply of homes;
• building a strong, competitive economy;
• recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and

supporting thriving local communities;
• taking account of the different roles and characters of different areas;
• highlighting the importance high quality design and good standards of amenity

for all future occupants of land and buildings; and
• conserving heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance.

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 50



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

6.6 Neighbourhood plans sit within this wider context both generally, and within the more 
specific presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Paragraph 13 of the 
NPPF indicates that neighbourhoods should both develop plans that support the 
strategic needs set out in local plans and plan positively to support local development 
that is outside the strategic elements of the development plan. 

6.7 In addition to the NPPF I have also taken account of other elements of national 
planning policy including Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements. 

6.8 Having considered all the evidence and representations available as part of the 
examination I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to national 
planning policies and guidance in general terms.  It sets out a positive vision for the 
future of the neighbourhood area within the context provided by the District Plan. It 
seeks to deliver the strategic housing requirement for the neighbourhood area as 
identified in that Plan. It also proposes a series of local green spaces. The Basic 
Conditions Statement maps the policies in the Plan against the appropriate sections 
of the NPPF. 

6.9 At a more practical level the NPPF indicates that plans should provide a clear 
framework within which decisions on planning applications can be made and that 
they should give a clear indication of how a decision-maker should react to a 
development proposal (paragraph 16d).  This was reinforced with the publication of 
Planning Practice Guidance in March 2014. Paragraph ID:41-041-20140306 
indicates that policies in neighbourhood plans should be drafted with sufficient clarity 
so that a decision-maker can apply them consistently and with confidence when 
determining planning applications.  Policies should also be concise, precise and 
supported by appropriate evidence. 

6.10 As submitted the Plan does not fully accord with this range of practical issues.  The 
majority of my recommended modifications in Section 7 relate to matters of clarity 
and precision. They are designed to ensure that the Plan fully accords with national 
policy. 

Contributing to sustainable development 

6.11 There are clear overlaps between national policy and the contribution that the 
submitted Plan makes to achieving sustainable development.  Sustainable 
development has three principal dimensions – economic, social and environmental. 
The submitted Plan has set out to achieve sustainable development in the 
neighbourhood area.  In the economic dimension the Plan includes policies for 
housing and employment development (Policies 14-17 and 18 & 19 respectively). In 
the social role, it includes policies on community infrastructure (Policies 10-12). In the 
environmental dimension the Plan positively seeks to protect its natural, built and 
historic environment.  It has specific policies on local gaps (Policy 1), on local green 
spaces (Policy 2) and on development in the South Downs National Park (Policy 6) 
and in conservation areas (Policy 7). The Parish Council has undertaken its own 
assessment of this matter in the submitted Basic Conditions Statement. 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 51



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

General conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan 

6.12 I have already commented in detail on the development plan context in Mid Sussex 
and in the South Downs National Park in paragraphs 5.4 to 5.8 of this report. 

6.13 I consider that the submitted Plan delivers a local dimension to this strategic context. 
The Basic Conditions Statement helpfully relates the Plan’s policies to policies in the 
development plan. I am satisfied that the submitted Plan is in general conformity with 
the strategic policies in the development plan.  

European Legislation and Habitat Regulations 

6.14 The Neighbourhood Plan General Regulations 2015 require a qualifying body either 
to submit an environmental report prepared in accordance with the Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 or a statement of reasons 
why an environmental report is not required. 

Sustainability Appraisal – Details and Findings 

6.15 In order to comply with this requirement the Parish Council commissioned the 
production of a Sustainability Appraisal (SA). It incorporated Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA). The SA considered three options/alternative strategies as 
follows: 

Option A: To have a strategy that does not support further housing growth beyond 
existing completions and commitments; 

Option B: To have a strategy that supports for small-scale growth/windfall within and 
adjoining the built-up area boundary subject to HNP criteria and in line with Policy 
DP6: Settlement Hierarchy of the District Plan; and 

Option C: To have a strategy which allocates sites beyond existing completions and 
commitments in excess of the minimum 882 dwellings required by the District Plan. 

6.16 The SA concluded that whilst Option A would have a positive effect on environmental 
objectives it would have neutral impact social and economic objectives. In 
considering Option C, the SA gave consideration to those sites identified in the 
MSDC Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLEAA) which could 
potentially deliver housing in excess of District Plan requirements. Option C would 
result in the allocation of additional sites for housing (beyond existing completions 
and commitments). Given the level of completions and commitments including the 
proposed strategic allocation it concluded that the allocation of additional sites within 
the Parish would negatively impact on the environmental objectives. 

6.17 The SA concluded that Option B was the most favourable as it provides the most 
balanced positive option against the range of objectives. It would enable small-scale 
growth/windfall within and adjoining the existing built up area boundary of Hassocks, 
subject to criteria identified in the submitted Plan and Policy DP6 of the District Plan. 
This would facilitate the positive delivery of additional housing within the Parish which 
would have a positive effect  on the social and economic objectives. Whilst there 
would be some impact on environmental objectives, the SA concluded that would be 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 52



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

minimised and mitigated by the criteria which would need to be met in conjunction 
with the delivery of such development. The SA also concluded that Option B would 
also ensure adverse impact on environmental objectives would be minimised and 
mitigated. This option was therefore considered to provide the most balanced positive 
option against the range of objectives. 

6.18 The SA assessed all the policies (and the aims) and the three options identified 
above against the Sustainability Objectives. The work is incorporated as Appendix 2 
of the Appraisal. Whilst a number of the individual policies may have a negative 
impact, particularly on a specific small number of Objectives, overall the policies in 
the submitted Plan, taken as a whole will have a significant positive impact on the 
sustainability of the Parish. The Appraisal comments Appendix 2 demonstrates the 
overall positive impact of the selected policy option on the social, economic and 
environmental objectives.  

Sustainability Appraisal – Representations and Commentary 

6.19 The SA has generated a series of technical representations from Rydon Homes 
(Sigma Planning R63), Clayton with Keymer Parish Council (Evison &Company 
R38) and Globe Homes (Lewis and Company R66). In their different ways the 
representations contend that the submitted SA does not meet the basic conditions.  

6.20 The representations suggest that the Plan in general and the SA in particular should 
have tested either a higher level of growth for the neighbourhood area than that 
included in the District Plan in general terms or for the development of identified sites 
in particular. I address these points under a series of headings. In doing so I make 
reference where appropriate to ‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Directive 2005’ (the ‘Practical Guide’). This document is referenced both 
by some of the representations and in the response to the clarification note by the 
Parish Council.  

The failure of the SA to consider reasonable alternatives in a robust way and of 
individual sites in particular 

6.21 Paragraph 6.15 of this report has summarised the alternatives considered in the SA 
and the wider plan-making process. Option B was selected. 

6.22 This matter cannot be considered in isolation. It needs to be considered within the 
round and in the context of the wider preparation of the Plan. The preparation of a 
neighbourhood plan for Hassocks has been a long and challenging task. As I have 
described in Section 5 there have been two distinct phases for the Plan preparation 
process – in effect before and after the certainty provided by the now adopted District 
Plan. The second phase of the plan-making process has taken account of the 
strategic housing requirement for Hassocks, the allocation of the site to the north of 
the village for 500 homes in the District Plan and commitments for residential 
development on other parcels of land.  

6.23 In this context, the supporting text in the submitted Plan (paragraphs 6.1 to 6.13) 
comment on the Plan’s approach to this important matter. In summary they highlight 
that the minimum requirement for 882 dwellings in Hassocks within the District Plan 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 53



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

period is already met by existing commitments, completions and the strategic 
allocation in the District Plan. No evidence has been submitted as part of the 
examination process that disputes this conclusion. Similarly, no evidence has come 
forward to suggest that the commitments and allocations are incapable of delivery or 
will not come forward within the Plan period.  

6.24 Since the SA was finalised and the Plan was submitted, the potential delivery of 
housing in the neighbourhood area has been enhanced further with the granting of 
planning permission for the parcel of land to the east of the Friar Oak PH (130 
homes).  

6.25 The Rydon Homes and Globe Homes representations also propose the allocation of 
specific sites in which they have an interest. In both cases they are included in 
Appendix 3 of the submitted SA (respectively sites 221 and 210) which identifies sites 
which have been considered in the Mid Sussex Strategic Housing and Economic 
Land Availability Assessment April 2018. In this context they were considered in a 
general fashion as part of the submitted Plan’s Option C. A specific assessment of 
specific sites promoted through the consultation phase of the Plan against the 
allocated sites is not a statutory requirement of the SA process.  

6.26 In any event planning permission has now been granted for the Rydon Homes site 
(SHELAA site 221). This is the Friars Oak site mentioned in paragraph 6.24 of this 
report.  In addition, MSDC is now consulting on its Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document. Whilst the draft Plan does not allocate the Globe Homes site it has been 
assessed for its appropriateness for residential purposes. The opportunity will exist 
through that emerging process for Globe Homes to present a case for the allocation 
of its site.  

6.27 In all the circumstances I am satisfied that the SA has taken a proportionate 
approach to this matter. In general terms there is no need for a neighbourhood plan 
to assess a housing growth figure beyond that identified in the adopted development 
plan. In particular, in this case the District Plan is recently-adopted and has 
considered the level, nature and location of new housing growth in the 
neighbourhood area in a comprehensive fashion. This contrasts significantly with the 
preparation of other neighbourhood plans where the development plan is either more 
historic or where it includes a requirement for neighbourhood plans to deliver their 
own local and specific allocations.   

The dismissal of the higher growth option 

6.28 The representations comment that Option C (the additional growth scenario) was 
dismissed without any significant evidence or analysis. It is also argued that the scale 
and level of any additional growth was not specifically tested to allow its 
environmental effects to be adequately assessed.  

6.29 I have considered this issue very carefully. In doing so I have concluded that within 
the wider context of the Plan the SA has taken an appropriate and balanced 
approach to this matter. Appendix 3 is clear and transparent about the scale, nature 
and location of potential housing sites in the neighbourhood area (both committed 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 54



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

and SHELAA sites). This matter is specifically addressed in paragraphs 5.7 and 5.8 
of the submitted SA 

6.30 Section B.2 of the Practical Guide provides a context for this matter. It comments 
that: 

‘In conducting SEA, Responsible Authorities must appraise the likely significant 
environmental effects of implementing the plan or programme and any reasonable 
alternatives. It is normal practice when developing a plan or programme to propose 
different ways of fulfilling its objectives. In the UK the term “options” is often used. 
Each alternative can be tested against the SEA objectives, with positive as well as 
negative effects being considered, and uncertainties about the nature and 
significance of effects noted. This will often be an iterative process, with the 
alternatives being revised as part of the SEA to enhance positive effects and reduce 
negative ones. 

Alternatives considered often include scenarios termed ‘no plan or programme’ and 
‘business as usual’. It is important to be clear what these alternatives mean in relation 
to a particular plan or programme. ‘No plan or programme’ might mean not 
introducing a plan or programme where none already exists, or it might in effect 
propose no further action to implement a plan or programme (e.g. no more 
developments in a particular area). ‘Business as usual’ usually means a continuation 
of an existing plan or programme, as an alternative to preparing a new one. It is 
important to be aware that baselines will change over time under ‘no plan or 
programme’ and ‘business as usual’ alternatives, as well as under new plans or 
programmes.  

At this stage it may be possible to drop some alternatives from further consideration 
and document the reasons for eliminating them. Justifications for these choices will 
need to be robust, as they can affect decisions on major developments’ 

6.31 Section B3 of the Practical Guide offers more specific advice on the way in which 
SA/SEA work should assesses the effects of the Plan and any identified alternatives. 
It comments that: 

‘Predictions do not have to be expressed in quantitative terms. Hard data may enable 
Responsible Authorities or expert advisers to make detailed quantitative predictions, 
and this can be particularly useful where a plan’s or programme’s effects are 
uncertain, close to a threshold, or cumulative. However, quantification is not always 
practicable, and qualitative predictions can be equally valid and appropriate. In 
current practice, these are often expressed in easily understood terms such as 
‘getting better or worse’ or a scale from ++ (very positive) to – – (very negative). It 
can be useful to link predictions to specific objectives’ 

6.32 This general approach is further refined in Appendix 6 of the Practical Guide. It has a 
clear focus on the scale and the nature of the reasonable alternatives. It comments 
that: 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 55



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

‘Only reasonable, realistic and relevant alternatives need to be put forward. It is 
helpful if they are sufficiently distinct to enable meaningful comparisons to be made 
of the environmental implications of each.  

Some alternatives are discrete, involving a choice between one alternative and 
another. These are often the broad options considered early in plan and programme 
preparation. Other alternatives can be combined in various ways. Alternatives may 
be grouped into scenarios, for instance rapid economic growth (or the) ‘most 
sustainable’ option 

For key plan or programme issues, a hierarchy of options may be considered. 
Obviation of demand is often environmentally and socially better than providing for 
demand or rationing consumption through price or limited capacity’ 

6.33 Having considered all the information available to me as part of the examination I am 
satisfied that the SA and the wider Plan has taken a proportionate approach to this 
matter. The SA has looked at the potential for a higher growth option based on the 
broader context within which the Plan has been prepared, and the various committed 
and potential SHELAA sites in particular. It has taken a reasonable judgement that 
any further strategic planned growth in the neighbourhood area (in this case through 
the submitted Plan) would have environmental consequences which had not been 
tested in the District Plan.  

6.34 In coming to this conclusion, I have given considerable weight to the recent adoption 
of the District Plan and the strategic growth approach that it has taken towards the 
neighbourhood area (and which is translated into the submitted Plan). The 
environmental effects of the higher growth option (Option C) are assessed in 
Appendix 1 of the SA. I am also satisfied that the approach taken on this matter is 
both robust and proportionate to the issues being addressed in the Plan. I am also 
satisfied that the SA has taken an appropriate approach on the level of detail required 
to enable the plan making body to assess the environmental implications of the 
various options. As described in Part B3 of the Practical Guide it has assessed the 
implications of Option C on a positive-negative scale and has reached qualitative 
rather than through detailed quantification judgements.  

Relative merits of committed sites against other potential sites 

6.35 It has been suggested in some of the representations that the approach towards 
testing committed sites against other sites should have been more detailed. It is also 
suggested that sites identified in the Plan as local green spaces should have been 
considered for development. 

6.36 I am not convinced that such an approach has merit. The plan-making process is 
entitled to come to a balanced judgement on the ability or otherwise of the allocated 
and committed sites in the neighbourhood area to come forward in the Plan period. 
As the Parish Council comments in its response to the clarification note ‘the allocated 
and the committed sites are materially and significantly different from other potential 
sites in the neighbourhood area’. In addition, irrespective of the approach taken in the 
Plan on the future direction of housing growth the allocation and the commitments 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 56



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

would be unaffected. In this context the allocated site and the committed sites are 
properly incorporated within the context of both Option A and B in the SA. 

The iterative nature of the SA and future monitoring 

6.37 It has been suggested in some of the representations that the approach to the 
iterative nature of the SA is underdeveloped. It is also contended that the SA’s 
approach to monitoring is inappropriate.  

6.38 I am not persuaded by these criticisms of the submitted SA. On the first point the SA 
reflects the staged nature of the plan-making process. Nevertheless Section 2 of the 
SA describes the iterative nature of the process that has been followed. In addition, 
Appendix 4 describes the way in which it has responded to earlier comments 
received. This matter is also addressed more generally in paragraph 5.13 of the SA.  

6.39 On the second point the SA is clear in paragraphs 2.9 and 6.3 that monitoring of the 
Plan will take place in the event that the Plan is made. This is a reasonable approach 
which takes account of the uncertainties of the examination process in general for the 
future direction of the Plan, and the potential implications of any recommended 
modifications in particular.  

6.40 I comment on the various policies in Section 7 of this report. However, in general 
terms I am satisfied that the submitted Sustainability Appraisal is a well-prepared 
document which properly assesses the potential impact of the implementation of the 
Plan’s policies. In particular it assesses reasonable alternatives and makes an 
informed judgement on which of those alternatives the Plan should take forward. As 
part of this process it has taken a proportionate approach to the issues raised. 
Importantly it has done so within the context of an up to date, recently-adopted 
development plan context which has had significant implications for future 
development in the neighbourhood area.  

Habitats Regulations Assessment 

6.41 The District Council has produced a separate Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) of the Plan. It concludes that the Plan is not likely to have significant 
environmental effects on a European nature conservation site or undermine their 
conservation objectives alone or in combination taking account of the precautionary 
principle. As such Appropriate Assessment is not required.  

6.42 The HRA report is very thorough and comprehensive. It took appropriate account of 
the significance of the Ashdown Forest SPA and SAC. It provides assurance to all 
concerned that the submitted Plan takes appropriate account of important ecological 
and biodiversity matters. The Ashdown Forest SPA was classified in 1996. It is a 
3,200Ha site comprising predominantly of lowland heathland and woodland. The 
Ashdown Forest SPA is an internationally important habitat classified because of the 
presence of breeding populations of Dartford warbler Sylvia and European nightjar. 
Ashdown Forest is also notified as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). The 
Ashdown Forest SAC was designated in 2005 and covers 2,700Ha. It has a different 
boundary to the SPA, but the two designations overlap. It is also part of the SSSI.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 57



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

6.43 No policies in the submitted Plan were found to have a likely significant effect alone 
on the Ashdown Forest SPA and SAC. In particular Policies 15 and 16 comment on 
housing sites which are already allocated or have planning permission are not 
considered to result in a likely significant effect.  

6.44 The HRA also considered in combination effects. Other neighbourhood plans and 
windfall sites within the 7km zone in Mid Sussex will be required to provide mitigation 
for development where there is a net increase in dwellings and any in combination 
effect will be taken into account through the overall mitigation strategy. Policies that 
propose residential development in neighbourhood plans in Mid Sussex outside the 
7km zone of influence are considered to have an insignificant effect on the Ashdown 
Forest SAC and SPA (as previously assessed through the District Plan HRA). 
Nevertheless, MSDC provides assurance that such matters will be explored in further 
detail in the HRAs of those neighbourhood plans.  

6.45 Having reviewed the information provided to me as part of the examination, I am 
satisfied that a proportionate process has been undertaken in accordance with the 
various regulations. In the absence of any evidence to the contrary, I am entirely 
satisfied that the submitted Plan is compatible with this aspect of European 
obligations.  

Human Rights 

6.46 In a similar fashion I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to the 
fundamental rights and freedoms guaranteed under the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR) and that it complies with the Human Rights Act. There is no 
evidence that has been submitted to me to suggest otherwise. In addition, there has 
been full and adequate opportunity for all interested parties to take part in the 
preparation of the Plan and to make their comments known.  An Equalities Impact 
Assessment has helpfully been prepared by MSDC. It is an excellent document.  

6.47 On the basis of all the evidence available to me, I conclude that the submitted Plan 
does not breach, nor is in any way incompatible with the ECHR. 

Summary 

6.48 On the basis of my assessment of the Plan in this section of my report I am satisfied 
that it meets the basic conditions subject to the incorporation of the recommended 
modifications contained in this report.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 58



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

7   The Neighbourhood Plan policies 

7.1 This section of the report comments on the policies in the Plan.  In particular, it 
makes a series of recommended modifications to ensure that they have the 
necessary precision to meet the basic conditions.   

7.2 My recommendations focus on the policies themselves given that the basic 
conditions relate primarily to this aspect of neighbourhood plans.  In some cases, I 
have also recommended changes to the associated supporting text. 

7.3 I am satisfied that the content and the form of the Plan is fit for purpose.  It is 
distinctive and proportionate to the Plan area. The wider community and the Parish 
Council have spent time and energy in identifying the issues and objectives that they 
wish to be included in their Plan. This sits at the heart of the localism agenda. 

7.4 The Plan has been designed to reflect Planning Practice Guidance (41-004-
20170728) which indicates that neighbourhood plans must address the development 
and use of land. The Plan includes a series of Aims. They are appropriately 
distinguished from the principal land use policies. 

7.5 I have addressed the policies in the order that they appear in the submitted plan. 
Where necessary I have identified the inter-relationships between the policies. The 
Aims are addressed after the policies.  

7.6 For clarity this section of the report comments on all policies whether or not I have 
recommended modifications in order to ensure that the Plan meets the basic 
conditions.   

7.7 Where modifications are recommended to policies they are highlighted in bold print. 
Any associated or free-standing changes to the text of the Plan are set out in italic 
print. 

The initial section of the Plan (Sections 1-3) 

7.8 These initial parts of the Plan set the scene for the range of policies.  They do so in a 
proportionate way. The Plan is presented in a professional way. It includes well-
selected photographs and maps. A very clear distinction is made between its policies 
and the supporting text. I make some specific comments on the legibility of the 
Proposals Map in paragraphs 7.107 and 7.108 of this report.  

7.9  The Introduction comments about the development of the Plan. It also provides 
background information on the wider planning policy context. It helpfully comments 
about the way in which the Plan has been developed in general, and has sought to 
dovetail with the adopted Mid Sussex District Plan in particular.  

7.10 Chapter 2 comments about the neighbourhood area and a range of matters which 
have influenced the preparation of the Plan. It includes a very well-considered Parish 
Profile. It addresses: 

• The Environment and Heritage;
• Community Infrastructure;

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 59



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

• Housing;
• Economy; and
• Transport

The various policies in the Plan are assembled around these key headings. 

7.11 Section 3 comments about the Plan’s Vision and Objectives. It is well-constructed. It 
describes how the Vision and the Objectives of the Plan were developed. Its key 
strength is the way in which the objectives directly stem from the Vision.  

7.12 The remainder of this section of the report addresses each policy in turn in the 
context set out in paragraphs 7.5 to 7.7 of this report. 

Policy 1: Local Gaps 

7.13 This policy sits at the heart of the Plan. It proposes the definition of three local gaps 
as follows: 

• Keymer/Hassocks and Ditchling;
• Keymer/Hassocks and Hurstpierpoint; and
• Keymer/Hassocks and Burgess Hill

7.14 The purpose of the definition of local gaps is to prevent coalescence and to retain the 
separate identity and amenity of the settlements concerned. The policy then identifies 
the types of development that would be supported within the defined Local Gaps. 
The supporting text (paragraph 4.1 to 4.14) provides a comprehensive context to this 
matter. It is also underpinned by background papers. The proposed Local Gaps are 
drawn tightly around the edges of Hassocks. In most case the inner boundaries of 
the Local Gaps follow the defined built up area boundary for Hassocks in the adopted 
District Plan.  

7.15 The policy approach included in the submitted neighbourhood plan seeks to follow 
the approach to local gaps set out in Policy DP13 of the adopted Mid Sussex District 
Plan. It is conveniently summarised in paragraph 4.9 of the Plan. That paragraph 
describes the way in which the Plan has sought to provide robust evidence to identify 
local gaps and to demonstrate that existing local and national policies cannot provide 
the necessary protection. The SDNPA has also made comments about the way in 
which the proposed policy would apply in the National Park. In particularly it draws 
attention to the second criterion of the policy which itself refers to Policy DP6 of the 
District Plan. Plainly that policy does not apply in the National Park.   

7.16 The supporting text to Policy DP13 of the District Plan comments that the settlement 
pattern of Mid Sussex makes an important contribution to its distinctive character. As 
such a strategic objective of that Plan is to promote well-located and designed 
development that reflects the distinctive towns and villages, retains their separate 
identity and character and prevents coalescence. 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 60



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

7.17 The approach in Policy DP13 supplements that included in Policy DP12 which refers 
more generally to the protection and enhancement of the countryside. The supporting 
text to this policy comments that ‘the primary objective of the District Plan with 
respect to the countryside is to secure its protection by minimising the amount of land 
taken for development and preventing development that does not need to be there. 
At the same time, it seeks to enhance the countryside, support the rural economy by 
accommodating well-designed, appropriate new forms of development and changes 
in land use where a countryside location is required and where it does not adversely 
affect the rural environment. New development to meet local needs can be proposed 
through Neighbourhood Plans where this will support local services and is otherwise 
compatible with District Plan policies’ 

7.18 The Parish Council has approached its proposed identification of Local Gaps within 
this broader context. In doing so it has produced a landscape assessment. It reflects 
the approach in the District Plan supporting text which comments that the Strategy 
for the West Sussex Landscape (2005, paragraph 2.5) identifies the settlement 
pattern of the County – a network of small to medium-sized towns, villages and 
hamlets – as a strong defining characteristic.  

7.19 In addition the Parish Council has prepared a separate document – Review of Policy 
1: Local Gaps. This document takes account of the comments received to the pre-
submission Plan. I summarise the findings of these documents in the following 
sections of this report 

7.20 A Landscape Character Assessment was prepared as a supporting document for the 
emerging neighbourhood plan in March 2015. Whilst it does not make any specific 
recommendations for the definition of Local Gaps it provides detailed evidence on the 
character and appearance of those parts of the neighbourhood area outside 
Hassocks and provides a context within which the various parcels of land have been 
assessed for this purpose. The Assessment clarifies that its ambition is to provide a 
more local iteration of the Mid Sussex Landscape Character Assessment. 

7.21 The Review document summarises the findings of the landscape assessment work. 
In particular it provides an update on national and local policy as it has developed in 
recent years. In addition, it reviews the comments that were received during the most 
recent pre-submission phase of the Plan. It also assesses those parts of the 
neighbourhood area where proposals have come forward for development and which 
may, individually and cumulatively reduce the separation between the settlements 
concerned.  As an outcome it identifies areas where proposed Local Gaps could be 
reduced in their size from those included in earlier versions. These findings were 
translated into the submission Plan.  

7.22 The policy has attracted a series of representations from the development industry. 
In summary they are as follows: 

Clayton with Keymer Parish Council and the Chichester Diocese – detailed 
comments are made about the wording of Policy 1 and its requirement for an 
‘appropriate landscape buffer’ where any proposed housing schemes are in 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 61



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

accordance with Policy DP6 of the adopted District Plan. The representation 
proposes an additional housing site to the west of London Road. 

Gladman Developments Limited – detailed comments are made about the 
relationship of the proposed policy both to the adopted District Plan, and to national 
policy. It also comments about the scale and nature of the evidence presented in the 
Plan. It suggests that if the policy is retained its wording should be modified so that it 
allows an appropriate balancing act to take place when determining planning 
applications in the affected areas. 

Colin Brace and Philip Harris – detailed comments are made about the proposed size 
of the Keymer/Hassocks to Burgess Hill Local Gap. In particular the representation 
suggests that there should be a balance between the definition of a proposed Local 
Gap to the west and to the east of London Road. It proposes a further housing site in 
the neighbourhood area on the eastern side of London Road to the north of the Friars 
Oak PH.  

Rydon Homes – makes detailed comments about the planning history on the site in 
which it has an interest to the east of the Friars Oak PH off London Road. It also 
comments about the integrity of the policy and suggests that it is either deleted or 
that the proposed Local Gaps are reduced to area which are necessary to prevent 
coalescence between the settlements concerned. 

BasicPause Limited – makes detailed comments about the way in which the 
proposed policy approach relates to national and local policy and thereby to the basic 
conditions. It makes specific comments about the extent to which the policy fails to 
address the need for rural economic development in the neighbourhood area.  

Globe Homes – makes detailed comments about a parcel of land to the rear of 2 
Hurst Road and to the west of London Road. It contends that the parcel of land is 
now heavily influenced by the development of the adjacent Barratt Homes 
development to the north. It asserts that its removal from the Local Gap would not 
have any significant effect on the wider policy approach or the wider objectives of the 
adopted District Plan.  

7.23 The policy itself identifies the proposed local gaps and comments about the types of 
development which would be supported in the designated areas. It overlaps with 
Policy DP6 of the adopted District Plan. Its overall ambition is to safeguard the 
integrity of the three proposed gaps. 

7.24 I have also taken account of two changes in circumstances that have taken place 
since the consultation process ended. The first is that planning permission has been 
granted for the development of 130 houses on land to the rear (north and east) of the 
Friar Oak PH, London Road Hassocks. That site is within the proposed 
Hassocks/Keymer to Burgess Hill Local Gap. The second is that the same site is 
proposed as a housing allocation (SA24) in the Regulation 18 Consultation Draft Mid 
Sussex Site Allocations Development Plan Document (October 2019).  

7.25 Taking all the information into account I am satisfied that there is a case for the 
designation of Local Gaps in the neighbourhood area. In particular I am satisfied that, 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 62



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

on balance, the Parish Council has submitted robust evidence to justify this approach 
and as required by Policy DP13 of the adopted District Plan. It has assessed the 
landscape nature of the countryside and related it to the original work undertaken by 
MSDC in preparing the former 2004 Local Plan. It has assessed the scale and nature 
of the planning permissions and development pressures that now exist in the 
neighbourhood area in general, and with the allocation of the strategic site in the 
adopted District Plan in particular.  

7.26 As highlighted earlier in this report circumstances have changed further since the 
submission of the Plan and the comments made to that Plan. In particular the parcel 
of land to the east of Friars Oak now benefits from planning permission for residential 
development. It is also allocated for development in the emerging Site Allocations 
DPD. Plainly this has a direct impact on the proposed identification of the Hassocks-
Burgess Hill Local Gap. In a wider context it also has two related consequences. 
Firstly, it provides clarity on the scale, the nature and the location of allocated and 
committed housing sites in the neighbourhood area. Secondly it reinforces the 
sensitivity and the reduced nature of the open countryside between 
Hassocks/Keymer and the three settlements to the north west and east to further 
development within the Plan period. This change has been most noticeable in the 
proposed Hassock-Burgess Hill in general, and to the immediate north of the built-up 
area boundary of Hassocks in particular.  

7.27 In coming to decisions on the strategic site at Clayton Mills and the recent planning 
appeal on the Friars Oak site planning inspectors have concluded that the sites 
would not significantly conflict with the separation that exists between Hassocks and 
Burgess Hill. In the anticipation that the two sites will come forward within the Plan 
period together with other committed sites I am satisfied that the scale and nature of 
the residual land between Hassocks and Burgess Hill would be of a residual scale to 
warrant the definition of a Local Gap. This is particularly relevant given the 
development pressures arising in the southern part of this local gap (that is to the 
immediate north of Hassocks) 

7.28 However in this context I recommend a series of modifications to the policy so that it 
has regard to national policy. In particular they relate to the following matters: 

• the wording used in the policy in general, and the lack of any direct reference
to the South Downs National Park in particular;

• the way in which the policy tackles economic development and tourism
activities; and

• the way in which the policy would be applied to sites which immediately adjoin
the built-up area boundary.

7.29 On the first matter the submitted policy takes an approach which defines the types of 
development which would be supported in a Local Gap. In summary they are 
agricultural uses, other uses which ‘have to be located in the countryside’ and a 
housing proposal that would be in accordance with Policy DP6 (1-3) of the adopted 
District Plan. That policy relates to housing proposals outside any defined built-up 
area boundary.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 63



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

7.30 In this context I recommend three modifications to the wording used in the policy. 
The first brings clarity to that part of the first criterion which refers loosely to ‘some 
other use which has to be located in the countryside’. As submitted, this does not 
have the clarity required by the NPPF. Neither MSDC nor a developer would 
immediately understand how this aspect of the policy would be applied. The second 
relates to the requirement for a landscape buffer to be associated with any proposed 
housing schemes. In this regard the need or otherwise for landscaping of whatever 
type would be a matter of judgement for MSDC.  

7.31 The third incorporates reference to the appropriate policy in the South Downs Local 
Plan insofar as that policy would apply within elements of the various Local Gaps 
which fall within the National Park.  

7.32 The second matter overlaps with the first matter. National policy offers support for 
sensitive economic development and tourism activities within the countryside. It also 
offers specific support to any such proposals which may involve the re-use of existing 
buildings. I recommend that this issue is reflected in the supporting text. There is no 
reason why such uses cannot be satisfactorily accommodated in the proposed Local 
Gaps without undermining their principal purpose of retaining the separation of 
settlements and preventing coalescence. The recommended modification to the 
policy itself appropriately addresses this issue in a general way.  

7.33 The third matter seeks to take account of particular circumstances which have been 
brought forward in two representations on this policy where the parcel of land 
concerned immediately adjoins the identified BUAB. The first relates to Globe Homes 
representation on the parcel of land to the rear of 2 Hurst Road and to the west of 
London Road. In this case it is surrounded by built development on three sides. In 
particular the recent development of the Barratt Homes development to its north has 
separated it from the bulk of the proposed Local Gap to the north. The second relates 
to land at The Paddock and Evergreen to the north of the Friar Oak PH. In both 
cases the representations comment that the sites should be included for residential 
development, and that their development can be accommodated without impacting 
on the separation between Hassocks and Burgess Hill.  

7.34 Both sites have been assessed for the potential for development as part of the 
preparation of the emerging Site Allocations DPD. They are not proposed for 
development in that Plan. For the purpose of this examination my role is simply to 
assess the appropriateness of its inclusion within the proposed Local Gap.  

7.35 I have given careful thought to the appropriateness or otherwise of recommending 
the removal of these parcel of land from the proposed Local Gap. On the one hand to 
do so would take account of their changed circumstances since the development of 
the Barratt Homes site and the emerging Golf Course site off London Road. On the 
other hand, such an approach would depart from the approach taken elsewhere in 
the Plan of having a common boundary for the relevant Hassocks built up area 
boundary and the relevant Local Gap.  

7.36 On the balance of the issues I am satisfied that the sites concerned should remain 
within the proposed Local Gap. In any event the appropriate mechanism for the 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 64



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

potential development of the sites is the emerging Site Allocations DPD. The sites 
have already been assessed and the owners have the potential to pursue the sites 
through that process as they see fit.  

7.37 In a broader context I also recommend detailed modifications to the wording used in 
paragraph 4.14. In particular the submitted text’s use of ‘keep these areas free from 
development in the longer term’ is at odds with the specific support to development in 
the policy itself. In addition, it fails to take account of the ‘Plan period’ in its rather 
loose use of ‘the longer term. 

7.38 I recommend that the parcels of land to the north of Shepherds Walk as now 
approved for residential development are excluded from the proposed Hassocks to 
Burgess Hill Local Gap. This matter is detailed on the map at Appendix 1 of this 
report.  

In criterion 1 replace ‘or some other…. countryside’ with ‘or other uses which 
accord with national and local policies for the use of land and buildings in the 
countryside’ 

In criterion 2 

• add ‘or Policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan as appropriate to the
location of the proposed development’

• delete ‘and…Local Gap’

In paragraph 4.14 (second sentence) replace ‘keep these areas…. Local Gap’ with 
‘ensure that development in these areas is restricted to that which would be 
appropriate to safeguard the separation of the settlements concerned whilst ensuring 
that sustainable development take place within the Plan period 

At the end of paragraph 4.14 add: The policy identifies specific types of development 
which would be supported within the identified Local Gaps. It seeks to balance the 
need for policy clarity on the one hand with facilitating the sustainable use of land 
and buildings in the countryside. This is particularly reflected in the two criteria in the 
policy. The boundaries of the Local Gaps where they adjoin Hassocks/Keymer are 
mostly common with the built-up area boundary of the village. Development 
proposals which may arise in a Local Gap immediately adjacent to built-up area 
boundary will be determined against both Policy DP6 of the adopted District Plan, 
Policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan and Policy 1 of the HNP. Whilst these 
policies overlap Policy 1 of this Plan would have a particular focus on ensuring that 
the proposal would not compromise the integrity of the Local Gap concerned.   

Remove the parcel of land within the application site of planning application 
DM/19/1897 and DM/18/2342 from the Hassocks - Burgess Hill Local Gap and as 
shown in Appendix 1.  

Policy 2: Local Green Spaces 

7.39 This policy is another important element of the Plan. In this case it proposes the 
designation of a series of local green spaces (LGSs). They vary in size, location and 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 65



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

character. In particular some are located within the built-up part of the village and 
some are located in more peripheral locations.  

7.40 The Plan provides evidence about the way in which potential sites have been 
assessed against national criteria for LGS designation. The Parish Council undertook 
an initial analysis in September 2015. Further work was carried out in October 2018. 
In the more recent phase of plan-making it reviewed and updated this work in June 
2019. This work took account of the comments that had been received to the pre-
submission consultation exercise.  

7.41 On the basis of the evidence provided in the various studies and my own 
observations of the proposed LGSs I am satisfied that the following meet the three 
criteria as identified in the NPPF: 

LGS 3 Land to the south of Clayton Mills 
LGS 5 Land south of Downlands 
LGS 6 Land to the west of the railway field 
LGS 7 Land at Pheasant Field 
LGS 8 Land at Clayton Mills 

7.42 In addition, I am satisfied that their designation accords with the more general 
elements of paragraph 99 of the NPPF. Firstly, the package of sites is consistent with 
the local planning of sustainable development. In this context MSDC has recently 
adopted the District Plan which includes a strategic housing site in the 
neighbourhood area. It has also more recently granted planning permission for the 
development of the Friars Oak site. Secondly, I am satisfied that the LGSs are 
capable of enduring beyond the end of the Plan period. Indeed, in many cases they 
are established elements of the local environment and are sensitively managed as 
green spaces in ways appropriate to their particular uses. 

7.43 During the examination MSDC granted planning permission for the residential 
development of land to the north of Shepherds Walk (DM/19/1897). This followed on 
from the removal of the holding direction on the planning application associated with 
that site. In November 2019 planning permission was granted on appeal for an earlier 
proposal on the same site (DM/18/2342). The site includes the proposed LGS1 in the 
submitted Plan. In the circumstances I recommend the deletion of this proposed 
LGS. Section 37-008-20140306 of Planning Practice Guidance is clear that LGS 
designation will rarely be appropriate where land has planning permission for 
development. 

7.44 I looked carefully at proposed LGS 2 (Land at the Ham) and LGS 4 (Land to the east 
of Ockley Lane) when I visited the neighbourhood area. I saw that they were in 
agricultural use. I address them in turn in paragraphs 7.45 to 7.50. 

7.45 As the 2018 Assessment comments that LGS 2 is a field to the west of London Road 
and forms part of Ham Farm.  The proposed LGS lies to the west of land recently 
granted permission for residential development at Ham Fields.   The proposed area 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 66



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

of LGS 2 has been reduced from that shown in the 2016 pre-submission Plan to 
reflect this change. I saw the way in which the proposed LGS related to the recently- 
constructed residential development to the east as part of my visit.  

7.46 I am satisfied that the proposed LGS is in reasonable proximity to the community that 
it serves. I am also satisfied at 4.97 hectares that it is local in character and not an 
extensive parcel of land. However, having considered all the relevant information I 
am not satisfied that the proposed LGS is demonstrably special. In particular I have 
taken account of the information in the October 2018 LGS study about the landscape 
character of the field, the views that can be had from within the space, its heritage 
and wildlife significance and the access provided by the footpath. Nevertheless, I am 
not satisfied that either individually or in combination that these factors point to the 
site being demonstrably special. In essence it is a field on the edge of the village 
which is not dissimilar to others around this or other villages. On this basis I 
recommend that it is deleted from the Plan.  

7.47 The proposed LGS 4 is a field to the immediate east of Ockley Road. It is crossed by 
a footpath running in a north-west to south-east direction. The pre-submission Plan 
proposed a more extensive LGS with the incorporation of the field to the immediate 
east. The various LGS documents explain the circumstances which led to a smaller 
area being proposed in the submitted Plan. I saw from my visit the way in which the 
proposed LGS related to the built development off Ockley Road and Damian 
Way/Church Mead to the west and south respectively. I also saw the extensive views 
towards the South Downs Scarp to the south of the village from within the proposed 
LGS.  

7.48 I am satisfied that the proposed LGS is in reasonable proximity to the community that 
it serves. I am also satisfied at 5.07 hectares that it is local in character and not an 
extensive parcel of land. However, having considered all the relevant information I 
am not satisfied that the proposed LGS is demonstrably special. In particular I have 
taken account of the information in the October 2018 LGS study about the landscape 
character of the field, the views that can be had from within the space, its heritage 
and wildlife significance and the access provided by the footpath.  

7.49 Nevertheless, I am not satisfied that either individually or in combination that these 
factors point to the site being demonstrably special. In essence, as with proposed 
LGS 2 it is a field on the edge of the village which is not dissimilar to others around 
this or other villages. Plainly the site has extensive views of the Downs scarp to the 
south. However, this is a view which is enjoyed by many parts of the wider village, 
and along its southern flank in particular. As such the view is not specifically 
distinctive.   

7.50 I have considered this matter carefully. Having done so I have concluded that there is 
no additional benefit to its designation as LGS in the event that it met the three NPPF 
criteria. On this basis I recommend that proposed LGS4 is deleted from the Plan. 

7.51 The policy itself lists the various LGSs and then sets out a policy approach which 
would resist development which would conflict with the purpose of the LGS 
designation. Whilst this part of the policy largely follows the approach in national 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 67



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

policy (NPPF paragraph 101), it does not have the necessary clarity for a 
development plan policy. In particular it fails to identify the types of development 
which would conflict with the purpose of such designation. I recommend that the 
policy is modified so that it takes on the matter of fact approach set out in the NPPF. 
It will be a matter for MSDC’s judgement to determine whether any proposals which 
may come forward within the designated LGSs would conflict with the policy 
approach. 

7.52 I also recommend consequential changes to the Proposals Map and to paragraph 
4.19. In relation to the latter the modification seeks to ensure that there is an audit 
trail in terms of those proposed LGSs which were included in the background paper 
but which do not translate into any made neighbourhood plan. 

In the first part of the policy delete LGS1, LGS2 and LGS4. 

Replace the final part of the policy with: ‘Proposals for development within 
designated Local Green Spaces will only be supported in very special 
circumstances’ 

Modify the Proposals Map accordingly. 

In paragraph 4.19 after the second sentence insert: ‘Three of the sites included in the 
submitted Plan were removed as an outcome of the independent examination.  

In the third sentence of paragraph 4.19 replace ‘These areas’ with ‘The remaining 
five local green spaces’ 

Policy 3: Green Infrastructure 

7.53 This policy comments about green infrastructure. As described in paragraph 4.24 of 
the Plan the policy seeks to conserve and enhance existing green infrastructure 
assets and ensure that new development contributes to the enhancement of the 
network. It has three separate parts. The first two support proposals which would 
safeguard existing green infrastructure or provide additional provision. The third part 
seeks to resist proposals which would result in the loss of existing green 
infrastructure.  

7.54 I am satisfied that the policy is both appropriate and distinctive to the neighbourhood 
area. I recommend a detailed modification to the second part of the policy. As 
submitted, it suggests that any development proposal would need to comply with all 
the four criteria listed. In many cases this will be impracticable. I also recommend a 
modification to the wording used in the third part of the policy.  

Replace the opening element of the second part of the policy with: 
‘Development proposals which include the provision of additional green 
infrastructure will be supported. Particular support will be given to proposals 
which’ 

In 1 and 2 delete ‘They’ 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 68



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

In 3 replace ‘Planting contributes’ with ‘includes planting which would 
contribute’ 
In 4 delete ‘Proposals’ 
At the end of criteria 1/2/3 add: ‘and/or’ 
In the third part of the policy replace ‘be resisted’ with ‘not be supported’ 

Policy 4: Managing Surface Water 

7.55 This policy addresses surface water. The supporting text at paragraphs 4.25 to 4.32 
comment about the strategic documents to which the policy seeks to add local value. 
The policy has two parts. The first supports proposals which would reduce the risk of 
flooding. The Parish Council clarified that this part of the policy relates to specific 
technical solutions for such purposes. The second part of the policy offers support to 
the use of sustainable drainage techniques generally in new developments.  

7.56 I recommend a modification to the first part of the policy to reflect the Parish 
Council’s response to the clarification note. Otherwise the policy meets the basic 
conditions. 

In the first part of the policy replace Development proposals with ‘Technical 
proposals’ 

Policy 5: Enabling Zero Carbon 

7.57 This policy sets out ambitious proposals to ensuring zero carbon development in 
Hassocks. As the supporting text identifies it seeks to provide a local dimension to 
the MSDC Sustainability Strategy 2018-2023.  

7.58 It has five components as follows: 

• offering support to developments which include sustainable design features;
• ensuring that new development proposals that modify existing buildings

maximise the use of energy-saving measures;
• the inclusion of Energy Assessments with applications for new dwellings;
• the specification of heat energy requirements; and
• the provision for charging electric vehicles

7.59 I am satisfied that the first two and the fifth components take an appropriate and 
supportive approach towards development of this nature. However, I recommend 
detailed modifications to their wording so that they have the clarity required by the 
NPPF. The third component is a process matter rather than a land use policy and as 
such I recommend its deletion. I also recommend that the fourth component of the 
policy is deleted. I have reached this conclusion for two reasons. The first is that the 
Written Ministerial Statement (2015) makes clear neighbourhood plans should not set 
out any additional local technical standards or requirements relating to the 
construction, internal layout or performance of new dwellings. The second is that this 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 69



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

element of the policy has not been tested for their potential impact on the viability of 
the proposed development.  

In the first part of the proposal replace ‘Support …development proposals with 
‘Development proposals will be supported’ 

In the second part of the policy delete ‘All’ 

Delete the third and fourth and components of the policy. 

Policy 6: South Downs National Park 

7.60 This policy concentrates on development proposals in the South Downs National 
Park. It concentrates on the need to safeguard this important landscape and to 
conserve and enhance its landscape character, scenic beauty and cultural heritage. 
Its approach has support from the South Downs National Park Authority.  

7.61 I am satisfied that the policy properly takes account of the National Park in the 
neighbourhood area. In particular the scarp slope is a prominent feature throughout 
the village and the wider landscape. I recommend detailed modifications to the 
wording of the final criterion of the policy and which also corrects a spelling mistake. 
As with other policies I recommend that the numbers used for the different criteria are 
replaced with bullet points. In this case it removes the confusion of the use of 3 and 4 
for the first and second criteria of the second part of the policy. 

In criterion 4 (as submitted) replace ‘no significantly’ with not unacceptably’ 

Replace 1/2/3/4 with bullet points. 

Policy 7: Development in Conservation areas 

7.62 This policy sets out to provide distinctive policy guidance for development proposals 
in the two conservation areas. They have distinctive characters and appearances. At 
the heart of the policy is a schedule of special features which define the two 
conservation areas.  

7.63 In several respects the policy is a hybrid policy. In places it repeats key elements of 
the general policy on conservation areas already included in the adopted District 
Plan. In other places it brings distinctive local information into a policy context. I 
recommend modifications to ensure that the relationship between the two policy 
approaches is clear. I also recommend other consequential and layout modifications 
to the policy. Otherwise it meets the basic conditions. Its implementation within the 
plan period will do much to ensure that appropriate and sensitive development takes 
place in the two conservation areas.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 70



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

At the beginning of the policy add: 
‘Development proposals in the Keymer Conservation Area and in the Clayton 
Conservation Area will be assessed against Policy DP35 of the Mid Sussex 
District Plan and Policy SD15 of the South Downs Local Plan.  
In particular development proposals should have regard to the following 
special features:’ 

Delete the first part of the policy. 
Delete the two sets of sentences which begin with ‘The following special 
features’ and ‘Any development’ 

At the start of the schedule 1-8 add a heading to read ‘Keymer Conservation 
Area. 
At the start of the schedule 9-18 add a heading to read ‘Clayton Conservation 
Area. 

Replace numbers 1-18 with bullet points. 

Policy 8: Air Quality Management 

7.64 This policy acknowledges the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) based around 
the Stonepounds Crossroads. The policy supports development which would not 
have an unacceptable adverse impact on air quality in the AQMA.  

7.65 The policy meets the basic conditions. 

Policy 9: Character and Design 

7.66 This policy sets out the Plan’s approach to character and design. The supporting text 
explains the way in which the policy has been designed to consolidate earlier work 
on both the Townscape Appraisal and the Village Design Statement. The policy 
identifies ten design principles with which new development should comply. The 
range of design principles are both comprehensive in general terms, and distinctive 
to the neighbourhood area in particular.  

7.67 In a broad sense the policy meets the basic conditions. However, I recommend two 
modifications so that it has the clarity required by the NPPF. The first introduces a 
general reference to the nature and the scale of the development proposed. As 
submitted the policy assumes that all developments will impact on each of the design 
principles. The second clarifies the harm to be assessed in the sixth criterion.  

Replace the opening part of the policy with: 
‘Development proposals will be supported where they have regard to the 
Hassocks Townscape Appraisal, and where their character and design takes 
account of the following design principles as appropriate to the nature, scale 
and location of the particular proposal: 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 71



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

In the sixth criterion replace ‘significant’ with ‘unacceptable’. 

Policy 10: Protection of Open Space 

7.68 This policy addresses open space. It has three related components: 

• offering support to proposals which provide a mix of formal and informal open
space;

• identifying areas of open space;
• offering support to proposals which would replace the existing identified areas

of open space; and
• resisting proposals which would involve the loss of areas of existing open

spaces unless specific circumstances are met.

7.69 The Plan has a sharp focus on the benefits which the Parish derives from the various 
open spaces within the village and the wider neighbourhood area. In this context the 
policy appropriately seeks to provide a basis against which any development 
proposals would be assessed.  

7.70 I am satisfied that the identified areas of open space are appropriate. They are well-
established parts of the local environment. In addition, they are managed in a 
sensitive fashion. The fourth component of the policy is particularly well-developed in 
the way in anticipates circumstances where new development may present the 
opportunity for a different provision of open space. The first would be to provide an 
equivalent or better provision of open space. The second is where the development 
would be for alternative sports or recreational provision, the needs for which clearly 
outweigh the loss of open space.  

7.71 As with other policies I recommend that the numbers used for the different criteria are 
replaced with bullet points. In this case it removes the confusion of the use of 3/4/5 
for the first, second and third criteria of the fourth part of the policy 

7.72 I also recommend two detailed modifications to the wording of the first and second 
components of the policy. They will ensure that the policy has the clarity required by 
the NPPF.  

Replace 1/2/3/4/5 with bullet points. 

In the first part of the policy (second sentence) replace ‘is to be of’ with ‘should 
be’ 

In the second component of the policy replace the opening part with: 
‘The neighbourhood plan identifies the following areas of public space. They 
are shown on the Proposals Map:’ 

Policy 11: Outdoor Play Spaces 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 72



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

7.73 This policy continues the approach taken in Policy 10. In this case it requires that 
development proposals of five or more homes should provide play areas and 
associated equipment. The preference in the policy is that this provision should be 
made on the development site itself.  

7.74 MSDC comments that Paragraph A 2.9 of Appendix 2 of its Supplementary Planning 
Document on open space explains that it is not always practical or appropriate to 
provide all categories of outdoor playing space, sport and recreation for every 
development. In addition, the Council would only expect children’s playing space to 
be provided on site for developments of over 50 houses or more. I recommend 
modifications to address this important matter. In particular it will take account of the 
flexibility that may exist for new developments to contribute towards more substantial 
facilities off site but within close proximity to the development concerned. 

Replace ‘will be required to’ with should’.  

At the end of the first sentence add: ‘on the site concerned’. 

In the second sentence replace ‘This should…site, or’ with ‘Where on site 
provision is not practicable’ and ‘community facilities’ with ‘play areas and 
associated equipment’. 

Policy 12: Community Facilities 

7.75 This policy seeks to safeguard community facilities. In particular its second part 
supports development proposals for the alteration and/or replacement of community 
facilities where equivalent or enhanced facilities are provided to serve local needs.  

7.76 Paragraph 5.12 of the Plan identifies the general nature of community facilities in the 
neighbourhood area. Through the clarification note the Parish Council advised that 
the policy was intended to apply generally rather than to specific facilities. On 
balance I am satisfied that this approach is appropriate and provides sufficient clarity. 
It has the additional benefit of ensuring flexibility within the Plan period.  

7.77 The policy meets the basic conditions. 

Policy 13: Education Provision 

7.78 This policy offers support to the development of a two-form entry primary school in 
the Parish. The supporting text and the Parish Council’s very helpful response to the 
clarification note provide the context to this matter. In summary it reflects the growing 
pressures on the existing school provision in the neighbourhood area. The policy has 
overlaps with Aim 2. 

7.79 I recommend two modifications to the policy. The first removes any reference to ‘a 
two-form entry’ school. That matter is already satisfactorily addressed in the 
supporting text. In any event the organisation and the intake policy of a new school is 
not a land use matter. The second repositions the second part of the policy into Aim 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 73



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

2. Whilst the joint work that the Parish Council will undertake with the County Council
and MSDC will be hugely important to the social well-being of the Parish it is not as
land use matter.

In the first part of the policy delete ‘two-form entry’. 
Delete the second part of the policy. 

Reposition the second part of the policy so that it sits as a second part of Aim 2 
Policy 14: Residential Development  

7.80 This policy sets out the Plan’s approach to new residential development. The 
supporting text makes extensive reference to the strategic context provided by the 
Adopted District Plan. The submitted Plan relies heavily on the delivery of existing 
commitments and on the development of the strategic site in the District Plan to 
ensure that the neighbourhood areas meets its strategic housing requirement. The 
supporting text clarifies that completions, commitments and the strategic allocation 
will collectively meet the strategic housing requirements for the neighbourhood area.  

7.81 The policy sets out an approach for development proposals both within the defined 
built up area and elsewhere. In the former category the policy requires that proposed 
developments are of an appropriate nature and scale and positively respond to the 
character of the area concerned. In the latter category the policy lists a series of 
development which would be supported. The defined types of development 
correspond with existing policies in either the District Plan (fewer than 10 dwellings, 
contiguous with the built-up area), policies in the South Downs Local Plan, and within 
the neighbourhood plan (the Local Gap policy). 

7.82 I am satisfied that the first part of the policy meets the basic conditions. However, the 
second part of the policy is over-complicated and largely repeats other policies. I 
recommend modifications accordingly to address this matter.  

Replace points 3-7 inclusive with ‘they are in accordance with Policy DP6 of 
the Mid Sussex District Plan, Policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan and 
Policy 1 of this Plan.’  

Policy 15: Hassocks Golf Club 

7.83 This policy sets out to provide clarity on any future planning applications which may 
come forward on this site. The supporting text and the very helpful responses from 
the Parish Council to the clarification note provide a context to the planning history on 
this site.  

7.84 On balance I am satisfied that a planning policy for this site would serve a useful 
purpose both generally, and in the event that further planning applications are 
submitted for its development. However, I recommend modifications to the 
supporting text to clarify that the development of a planning policy does not affect 
extant planning permissions on the site.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 74



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

7.85 The policy offers support to residential development on the site subject to the 
proposals demonstrating compliance with a series of eleven criteria. In general terms 
the criteria are both appropriate and distinctive to the site. However, I recommend 
detailed modifications to several criteria so that they have the clarity required by the 
NPPF. In particular I recommend that the first criterion which relates to the Local Gap 
is deleted. It is unnecessary as the Golf Club as identified on the Proposals Map is 
outside the Local Gap. In any event any development which may be proposed 
adjacent to the Golf Course site in the Local Gap would be assessed against the 
contents of Policy DP13 of the District Plan and Policy 1 of this Plan. I also 
recommend the deletion of criterion 8 which refers to the details of the maintenance 
of open space. Criterion 7 addresses the need for open space. The maintenance of 
open space is not directly a land-use matter.  

Delete criteria 1 and 8. 

In criterion 3 replace ‘Allow for the retention of’ with ‘Retain’ 

In criterion 5 replace ‘suitable’ with ‘appropriate’ 

In criterion 6 replace ‘Protect’ with ‘Safeguard’ 

At the end of paragraph 6.22 add: ‘Policy 15 has been designed to ensure that any 
future applications can be determined within a wider policy context which takes 
account of the Vision and Objectives of this Plan’ 

Policy 16: Land to the North of Clayton Mills and Mackie Avenue 

7.86 This policy seeks to provide a degree of added local value to the allocation of the 
strategic site in the District Plan to the north of Clayton Mills and Mackie Avenue 
(Policy DP11). The policy is clear that the site is already allocated for residential 
purposes. Paragraph 6.28 of the submitted Plan explains that the policy sets out to 
ensure that the site is eventually developed in a way which is in line with its Vision 
and Objectives. 

7.87 The policy includes a series of thirteen development criteria to shape and influence 
the layout and design of the site. They include matters relating to landscape buffers, 
a mix of housing types and sizes, pedestrian and cycle access, open spaces and 
access and car parking requirements.  

7.88 The first part of the policy largely restates Policy DP11 of the adopted District Plan in 
a general fashion and without the detailed criteria associated with that policy. In 
normal circumstances such an approach would add nothing to the development plan. 
However, in the case of this policy it provides a context for the local, neighbourhood 
plan dimension set out in the remainder of the policy. In this context I am satisfied 
that there is no conflict between the different criteria in the two policies.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 75



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

7.89 In general terms the criteria in the submitted Plan are both appropriate and distinctive 
to the site. However, I recommend detailed modifications to several criteria so that 
they have the clarity required by the NPPF. In particular I recommend that the first 
criterion which relates to the Local Gap is deleted. It is unnecessary as the strategic 
site as identified on the Proposals Map is outside the Local Gap. In any event any 
development which may be proposed adjacent to the strategic site in the Local Gap 
would be assessed against the contents of Policy DP13 of the District Plan and 
Policy 1 of this Plan.  

7.90 I also recommend the deletion of criteria 3 (transfer of land to the Parish Council) and 
8 (reference to the South Downs National Park). In relation to the first point the 
preceding criterion addresses the need for a landscape buffer. The ownership of the 
buffer is not directly a land-use matter. In relation to the latter point the strategic 
allocation has already been assessed for its impact on the landscape in general, and 
the neighbourhood plan in particular in its allocation in the District Plan.  

Delete criteria 1/3/8. 

Policy 17: Affordable Housing 

7.91 This policy comments about the Plan’s expectations for the delivery of affordable 
housing. 

7.92 I am satisfied that the first part of the policy meets the basic conditions. It provides an 
overall context within which local housing needs can be met. The policy is in general 
conformity with Policy DP32 of the Mid Sussex District Plan which addresses this 
matter. 

7.93 However I am not satisfied that the second and third parts of the policy meet the 
basic conditions. The second part is an expression of the MSDC Housing Allocation 
Scheme (April 2018). Whilst the provision of affordable housing is a land use matter 
its allocation is not land use matter. In any event paragraphs 6.42 to 6.44 of the 
supporting text properly describe the local circumstances which apply in Mid Sussex. 

7.94 The third part of the policy addresses a strategic matter and which overlaps with the 
Housing Allocation Scheme. 

7.95 In these circumstances I recommend the deletion of both the second and the third 
components of the policy. 

Delete the second and third components of the policy. 

Policy 18: Village Centre 

7.96 This policy recognises the importance of the village centre to the integrity and the 
well-being of the neighbourhood area. The facilities in the village centre have been 
instrumental in Hassock’s designation as a Larger Village in the Mid Sussex District 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 76



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

Plan settlement hierarchy. The policy looks to support the vitality and viability of the 
village centre.  

7.97 I recommend detailed modifications to the wording applied in the policy. Otherwise it 
meets the basic conditions. It will contribute significantly to the way in which the Plan 
delivers the economic dimension of sustainable development. 

In the first part of the policy replace ‘seek to’ with ‘would’ 

In the second part of the policy delete ‘This will include…to’. At the send of this 
part of the policy add ‘will be particularly supported’ 

Policy 19: Tourism 

7.98 This policy sets out to promote tourism in the neighbourhood area. Its approach 
takes account of the position of Hassocks adjacent to the South Downs and the 
accessibility provided by the railway station. In particular it builds on the findings of 
the SDNPA Visitor Accommodation Review (December 2014).  

7.99 I recommend detailed modifications to the wording applied in the policy. Otherwise it 
meets the basic conditions. As with Policy 18 it will contribute significantly to the way 
in which the Plan delivers the economic dimension of sustainable development. 

Replace ‘provided’ with ‘where’’ and ‘the’ with ‘their’ 

Include ‘character and appearance of’ before ‘local area’ 

Aims 

7.100 The Plan includes a series of Parish Aims. They are non-land use matters which 
have naturally arisen during the preparation of the Plan. Their inclusion reflects the 
advice in Planning Practice Guidance. 

7.101 The Aims are included in the topic chapters along with any land use policies that 
exist in that section. National policy advice is that non land use matters should be 
captured in a separate part of the Plan. However, I am satisfied that their inclusion in 
the main part of the Plan is appropriate for two principal reasons. Firstly, they identify 
the ways in which the Parish Council itself will seek to implement the policies in the 
Plan. Secondly, they are presented in a different colour (grey) from the land use 
policies (blue).  

7.102 The Aim are concentrated on the principal themes of the Plan as follows: 

• Aim 1: Assets of Community Value
• Aim 2: Education Facilities
• Aim 3: Healthcare Facilities
• Aim 4: Housing Mix

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 77



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

• Aim 5: Non-Car Route Ways
• Aim 6: Public Transport
• Aim 7: Traffic and Accessibility

7.103 I am satisfied that the various Aims are both relevant and appropriate to the 
neighbourhood area. They are distinctive to its environment, opportunities and 
challenges. The following Aims are particularly noteworthy: 

Aim 1 – to support nominations for buildings to be identified as Assets of Community 
Value 

Aim 5– to support measures to improve the use of rights of way 

Aim 6 – to support measures to improve public transport in the Parish. 

Other matters 

7.104 This report has recommended a series of modifications both to the policies and to the 
supporting text in the submitted Plan. Where consequential changes to the text are 
required directly as a result of my recommended modification to the policy 
concerned, I have highlighted them in this report. However other changes to the 
general text may be required elsewhere in the Plan as a result of the recommended 
modifications to the policies. It will be appropriate for MSDC, the SDNPA and the 
Parish Council to have the flexibility to make any necessary consequential changes 
to the general text. I recommend accordingly.  

 Modification of general text (where necessary) to achieve consistency with the 
modified policies. 

The Plan period 

7.105 The Foreword and paragraph 1.1 comment about the Plan period. In combination 
they identify that it is from 2014-2031. I am satisfied that this an appropriate period. 

7.106 Nonetheless this matter should be more clearly expressed in the Plan. I recommend 
that paragraph 1.1 and the front cover of the Plan provides the necessary clarity 

On the front cover of the Plan (after ‘Plan’) and in paragraph 1.1 identify that the Plan 
period is 2014 to 2031 

Maps 

7.107 The submitted Plan has addressed a series of complex matters. Its various policies 
are shown on a single Proposals Map which is complicated to understand. This is 
reinforced as several of the proposed designations overlap. In addition, the map is of 
a scale which does not provide the clarity required for a development plan document.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 78



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

7.108 In order to remedy this matter I recommend that the Proposals Map is replaced by a 
Policies Map produced to the same scale and clarity as Map 12/12a in the District 
Plan. 

Replace the Proposals Map with a Policies Map produced to the same scale and 
clarity as Map 12/12a in the District Plan. 

Foreword 

7.109 The Foreword to the Plan sets the scene for the wider document. 

7.110 It makes several statements about the different stages of the preparation of the Plan. 
It also comments about the way in which the Plan currently includes proposals to 
meet the strategic housing requirements for the neighbourhood area.  

7.111 It also includes several general statements about the role and purpose of 
neighbourhood plans. Some of its statements are factually correct. Others are 
potentially misleading.  

7.112 The Foreword has primarily been designed as an explanation of the role of the 
neighbourhood plan to local residents. It also seeks comments through what was the 
submission consultation process. In the event that the Plan proceeds to referendum 
and is made I recommend that the Foreword is either substantially updated or 
deleted. In that context the Introduction provides an appropriate context for the Plan 
at that stage. 

Delete Foreword or update its contents so that it relates to the referendum stage of 
the plan-making process.  

Introduction 

7.113 This part of the Plan provides a context to the wider Plan. It does so to good effect. 

7.114 Since it was prepared the South Downs Local Plan has been adopted. I recommend 
consequential modifications to paragraphs 1.12 and 1.13 

Replace paragraphs 1.12 and 1.13 with: ‘The South Downs Local Plan was adopted 
in July 2019’ 

Monitoring and Review 

7.115 Section 9 of the Plan comments about its implementation and delivery. 

7.116 I recommend a series of modifications to the language used in this part of the Plan so 
that it has the clarity required by the NPPF. 

7.117 The Plan also comments that MSDC will monitor the Plan. It may do so as part of its 
District wide monitoring function. Nevertheless, the specific monitoring of any made 
Plan will be the responsibility of the Parish Council. I recommend a modification 
accordingly.  

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 79



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

7.118 The Plan is silent on the need or otherwise for any review. This is perhaps not 
surprising given that the District Plan was adopted in 2018. Nevertheless, MSDC is 
now consulting on its emerging Site Allocations DPD. That Plan proposes an 
additional housing allocation in the neighbourhood area. In practical terms this will 
have no direct impact as that site already has the benefit of planning permission. 
However, the final version of the Site Allocations DPD may be different from the 
October 2019 consultation draft.  

7.119 In any event this process highlights the importance of any made neighbourhood plan 
taking into account potential changes to the wider development plan. In this context 
MSDC has already indicated that it intends to begin a review of the District Plan in 
2021. As such I recommend that additional text is included in this part of the Plan to 
draw attention to this matter.  

In paragraph 9.2 replace the second sentence with: ‘It will be used to determine 
planning applications’ 

In paragraph 9.3 insert ‘part of the’ between ‘become’ and ‘Development Plan’ 

Replace paragraph 9.4 with ‘Once part of the development plan the Parish Council 
will monitor the effectiveness of the Plan’s policies’ 

Add a further paragraph (9.7) to read: 

Through its monitoring process the Parish Council will take a view of the 
effectiveness or otherwise of the policies in the Plan. It will also use this information 
to come to a view on the need or otherwise for a full or a partial review of the Plan to 
be undertaken. A key event for the consideration of a review process will be the 
outcome of the adoption of the Mid Sussex Sites Allocation Development Plan 
Document (and any implications which may arise from the potential allocation of 
additional sites in Hassocks), the review of the Mid Sussex District Plan starting in 
2021  and any review of the South Downs Local Plan.  

Add a further paragraph (9.8) to read: 

 ‘In any event the Parish Council will actively consider the need or otherwise for a 
review of the neighbourhood plan within five years of the making of the Plan or when 
evidence demonstrates that either committed sites or the strategic allocation in 
Hassocks in the District Plan will not deliver within the Plan period’ 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 80



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

8   Summary and Conclusions 

Summary 

8.1 The Plan sets out a range of policies to guide and direct development proposals in 
the period up to 2031.  It is distinctive in addressing a specific set of issues that have 
been identified and refined by the wider community.  

8.2 Following my independent examination of the Plan I have concluded that the 
Hassocks Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the basic conditions for the 
preparation of a neighbourhood plan subject to a series of recommended 
modifications. 

Conclusion 

8.3 On the basis of the findings in this report I recommend to Mid Sussex District Council 
and to the South Downs National Park Authority that subject to the incorporation of 
the modifications set out in this report the Hassocks Neighbourhood Development 
Plan should proceed to referendum. 

Referendum Area 

8.4 I am required to consider whether the referendum area should be extended beyond 
the Plan area.  In my view, the neighbourhood area is entirely appropriate for this 
purpose and no evidence has been submitted to suggest that this is not the case.  I 
therefore recommend that the Plan should proceed to referendum based on the 
neighbourhood area as originally approved by Mid Sussex District Council in July and 
September 2012 for the constituent parts of the neighbourhood area in Mid Sussex 
and the South Downs National Park respectively.  

8.5 The examination has addressed a series of challenging issues at the end of a 
protracted plan-making process.  I am grateful to everyone who has assisted in any 
way to ensure that it has run in a smooth and efficient manner. The District Council 
has been very helpful in managing the process and responding to my various 
requests for information.  

Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner 
16 December 2019 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 81



Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report 

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 82



I

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey mapping. Mid Sussex District Council. 100021794. 2019

Appendix 1 - 
Recommended amendment to the Hassocks to 

Burgess Hill Local Gap policy boundary

Built Up Area Boundaries
Conservation Areas
South Downs National Park
Policy 1: Amended Local Gap
Policy 2: Local Green Spaces
Policy 10: Protection of Public Open Space
Policy 15: Hassocks Golf Club. Planning Application boundary: DM/18/2616
Policy 16: Land to the North of Clayton Mills and Mackie Avenue

Cabinet - 13 January 2020 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 APPENDIX 2 - Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan Decision Statement – January 2020 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), Mid Sussex District Council has a statutory duty to assist communities in 

the preparation of neighbourhood development plans and orders and to take plans through a process of examination and referendum. The 

Localism Act 2011 (Part 6 chapter 3) sets out the Local Planning Authority’s responsibilities under Neighbourhood Planning. 

1.2 This statement confirms that the modifications proposed by the Examiner’s report have been accepted, the draft Hassocks Neighbourhood 

Development Plan will be altered as a result of it; and that this plan can proceed to referendum. 

2. Background 

2.1 The Hassocks Neighbourhood Development Plan relates to the area that was designated by Mid Sussex District Council as a 

neighbourhood area in July 2012. This area corresponds with the Hassocks Parish boundary that lies within Mid Sussex District and South 

Downs National Park Local Planning Authority Areas. 

2.2 Following the submission of the Hassocks Neighbourhood Development Plan to the District Council, the plan was publicised and 

representations were invited. The formal publicity period ended on Monday 16th September 2019 with a focused extended consultation until 14th 

October 2019. 

2.3 Mr Andrew Ashcroft BA (Hons) MA, DMS, MRTPI was appointed by Mid Sussex District Council  and the South Downs National Park 

Authority with the consent of Hassocks Parish Council, to undertake the examination of the Hassocks Neighbourhood Development Plan and to 

prepare a report of the independent examination. 

2.4 The Examiner’s report concludes that subject to making the recommended modifications recommended, the Plan meets the basic 

conditions set out in the legislation and should proceed to a Neighbourhood Planning referendum. 

3. Decision 

3.1 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 requires the local planning authority to outline what action to take in response to 

the recommendations of an examiner made in a report under paragraph 10 of Schedule 4A to the 1990 Act (as applied by Section 38A of the 

2004 Act) in relation to a neighbourhood development plan. 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

85



 

 
 

3.2 Having considered each of the recommendations made by the Examiner’s report, and the reasons for them, Mid Sussex District Council 

and the South Downs National Park Authority have decided to accept the modifications to the draft plan. Table 1 below outlines the alterations 

made to the draft plan under paragraph 12(6) of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act (as applied by Section 38A of 2004 Act) in response to each of 

the Examiner’s recommendations. The reasons set out have in some cases been paraphrased from the Examiners report for conciseness. This 

statement should be read alongside the Examiner's Report. 

3.3 If a Local Planning Authority is satisfied that, subject to the modifications being made, the Neighbourhood Plan meets the legal 

requirements and basic conditions then it can proceed to Referendum. 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 1: Local Gaps    

In criterion 1 replace ‘or some other…. countryside’ with ‘or other uses 
which accord with national and local policies for the use of land and 
buildings in the countryside.’ 
In criterion 2 - add ‘or Policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan as 
appropriate to the location of the proposed development’ 
delete ‘and…Local Gap’ 
 
The amended part of the policy will read as follows: 
 
Development will be supported within the Local Gap where: 
1. It is necessary for the purposes of agriculture, or some other use 
which has to be located in the countryside or other uses which accord 
with national and local policies for the use of land and buildings in the 
countryside ; or 
2. It is a scheme for housing that is in accordance with MSDP Policy 
DP6 (1-3) or Policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan as 
appropriate to the location of the proposed development; and includes 
an appropriate landscape buffer to strengthen the purposes of the 
Local Gap; and it would not compromise individually or cumulatively the 
objectives and fundamental integrity of the gaps between Hassocks 
and the settlements of Ditchling, Hurstpierpoint, and Burgess Hill. 
 

The first criterion as submitted does not have 
the clarity required by the NPPF. The second 
part of this criterion relates to the requirement 
for a landscape buffer to be associated with 
any proposed housing schemes. In this regard 
the need or otherwise for landscaping of 
whatever type would be a matter of judgement 
for the Local Planning Authority. The change to 
the second criterion incorporates reference to 
the appropriate policy in the South Downs 
Local Plan in so far as that policy would apply 
within elements of the various Local Gaps 
which fall within the National Park. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

86



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 1: Local Gaps – Supporting Text   

In paragraph 4.14 (second sentence) replace ‘keep these areas…. 
Local Gap’ with ‘ensure that development in these areas is restricted to 
that which would be appropriate to safeguard the separation of the 
settlements concerned whilst ensuring that sustainable development 
takes place within the Plan period. 
 
 
At the end of paragraph 4.14 add: The policy identifies specific types of 
development which would be supported within the identified Local 
Gaps. It seeks to balance the need for policy clarity on the one hand 
with facilitating the sustainable use of land and buildings in the 
countryside. This is particularly reflected in the two criteria in the policy. 
The boundaries of the Local Gaps where they adjoin Hassocks/Keymer 
are mostly common with the built-up area boundary of the village. 
Development proposals which may arise in a Local Gap immediately 
adjacent to built-up area boundary will be determined against both 
Policy DP6 of the adopted District Plan, Policy DP25 of the South 
Downs Local Plan and Policy 1 of the HNP. Whilst these policies 
overlap, Policy 1 of this Plan would have a particular focus on ensuring 
that the proposal would not compromise the integrity of the Local Gap 
concerned. 
 
 
 
 

For clarity purposes. The phrasing ‘keep these 
areas free from development in the longer 
term’ is at odds with the specific support to 
development in the policy itself. In addition, it 
fails to take account of the ‘Plan period’ in its 
rather loose use of ‘the longer term. 
 
For clarity purposes.  

Accept modification 

Policy 1: Hassocks-Burgess Hill Local Gap Boundary   

Add at after the above paragraph: 
Remove the parcel of land within the application sites of planning 
applications DM/19/1897 and DM/18/2342 from the Hassocks – 
Burgess Hill Local Gap and as shown in Appendix 1 to the Examiner’s 
report. 
 

Planning permission has been granted on this 
area of land and therefore should be excluded 
from the Local Gap boundary designation. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

87



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 2: Local Green Spaces   

In the first part of the policy delete LGS1, LGS2 and LGS4. 
Replace the final part of the policy with: ‘Proposals for development 
within designated Local Green Spaces will only be supported in very 
special circumstances’ 
 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
 
The Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan designates the following locations 
as Local  Green Spaces (as shown on the Proposals Map): 
1. Land to the north of Shepherds Walk (LGS1). 
2. Land at the Ham (LGS2). 
3. Land to the south of Clayton Mills (LGS3). 
4. Land to the east of Ockley Lane (LGS4). 
5. Land at south of Downlands (LGS5). 
6. Land to the west of the railway line (LGS6). 
7. Land at Pheasant Field (LGS7). 
8. Land at Clayton Mills (LGS8). 
Development proposals, which conflict with the purpose of this 
designation, will be resisted in these areas. Proposals for development 
within designated Local Green Spaces will only be supported in very 
special circumstances. 
 
Modify the Proposals Map accordingly to remove LGS1, 2 and 4 
designations 

LGS1, 2 and 4 do not meet the NPPF criteria 
as being demonstrably special and in addition 
planning permission has been granted for 
development on land which includes LGS 1. 
Planning Practice Guidance is clear that LGS 
designation will rarely be appropriate where 
land has planning permission for development. 

Accept modification 

Policy 2: Local Green Spaces – supporting text   

In paragraph 4.19 after the second sentence insert: ‘Three of the sites 
included in the submitted Plan were removed as an outcome of the 
independent examination.  
In the third sentence of paragraph 4.19 replace ‘These areas’ with ‘The 
remaining five local green spaces’ 
 
 

To ensure that there is an audit trail in terms of 
those proposed LGSs which were included in 
the background paper but which have now 
been recommended for removal and therefore 
do not translate into any Made neighbourhood 
plan. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

88



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 3: Green Infrastructure   

Replace the opening element of the second part of the policy with: 
‘Development proposals which include the provision of additional green 
infrastructure will be supported. Particular support will be given to 
proposals which’ 

 In 1 and 2 delete ‘They’ 

 In 3 replace ‘Planting contributes’ with ‘includes planting which 
would contribute’ 

 In 4 delete ‘Proposals’ 

 At the end of criteria 1/2/3 add: ‘and/or’ 

 In the third part of the policy replace ‘be resisted’ with ‘not be 
supported’ 

 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
 
Where proposals include the provision of additional green infrastructure 
these will be supported where Development proposals which include 
the provision of additional green infrastructure will be supported. 
Particular support will be given to proposals which: 
1. They seek to link to the existing path and open space networks; 
2. They provide off road access for walking, cycling and horse-riding; 
3. Includes Pplanting which would contributes to wildlife and links to 
existing woodland, hedges and streams; and 
4. Proposals include the planting of native species. 
 
Proposals, which would result in the loss of existing green 
infrastructure, will be resisted not be supported unless it can be 
demonstrated that the development proposals brings new opportunities 
which mitigates or compensates any loss whilst ensuring the protection 
of the existing ecosystem. 
 
 
 

The policy as drafted suggests that any 
development proposal would need to comply 
with all the four criteria listed. In many cases 
this will be impracticable. Other changes to 
wording are recommended for clarity purposes. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

89



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 4: Managing Surface Water   

In the first part of the policy replace ‘Development proposals’ with 
‘Technical proposals’ 
 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
Development Technical proposals which seek to reduce the risk of 
surface water flooding will be supported. Development proposals 
should seek to reduce existing run-off rates in the first instance. 
 

The first part of the policy is intended to give 
support to specific technical measures to 
reduce the risk of flooding e.g. attenuation 
ponds. 

Accept modification 

Policy 5: Enabling Zero carbon   

In the first part of the proposal replace ‘Support …development 
proposals’ with ‘Development proposals will be supported’ 
In the second part of the policy delete ‘All’ 
Delete the third and fourth components of the policy. 
 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
Support will be offered for dDevelopment proposals will be supported 
that maximise the opportunity to include sustainable design features, 
providing any adverse local impacts can be made acceptable. 
All rResidential development proposals that modify existing buildings 
(including extensions) should seek to maximise the inclusion of energy-
saving measures and renewable energy generation. 
Planning applications for developments of new dwellings must be 
accompanied by an Energy Assessment using the standard 
assessment procedure* (SAP) to demonstrate how carbon dioxide 
emissions are to be minimised onsite. 
All new residential development will be required to demonstrate that the 
net maximum heat energy requirement of the dwelling calculated using 
the SAP is 15 kWh/m2/year or less**/***. 
Proposals which make provision for charging electric vehicles at each 
dwelling (where feasible) and on-street; and making parking areas 
charging ready will be supported. 
 

The third component is a process matter rather 
than a land use policy. The fourth component 
does not comply with the Government’s 
Written Ministerial Statement (2015) which 
makes clear that neighbourhood plans should 
not set out any additional local technical 
standards or requirements relating to the 
construction, internal layout or performance of 
new dwellings. In addition, this element of the 
policy has not been tested for the potential 
impact on the viability of the proposed 
development. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

90



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 6: South Downs National Park   

In criterion 4 replace ‘no significantly’ with ‘not unacceptably’ 
Replace 1/2/3/4 with bullet points. 
 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
 
Development proposals within the South Downs National Park will be 
supported where they: 

 1 Have regard to the purposes and duty of the Park Authority; 
and 

 2. Conserve and enhance the landscape character, scenic 
beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the Park. 

Development proposals on land outside of, but contributing to, the 
setting of the South Downs National Park will be supported where 
proposals: 

 3. Do not detract from, or cause detriment to, the special 
qualities and tranquillity of the South Downs National Park; and 

 4. Do no significantly not unacceptably harm the South Downs 
National Park or its setting. 

 

For clarity and to correct a spelling mistake. As 
with other policies it is recommend that the 
numbers used for the different criteria are 
replaced with bullet points. In this case it 
removes the confusion of the use of 3 and 4 for 
the first and second criteria of the second part 
of the policy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Accept modification 

Policy 7: Development in Conservation Areas   

At the beginning of the policy add: 
‘Development proposals in the Keymer Conservation Area and in the 
Clayton Conservation Area will be assessed against Policy DP35 of the 
Mid Sussex District Plan and Policy SD 15 in the South Downs Local 
Plan.’ 
  
In particular development proposals should have regard to the following 
special features:’ 
 
Delete the first part of the policy. 
Delete the two sets of sentences which begin with ‘The following 
special features’ and ‘Any development’ 

To ensure that the relationship between the 
District Plan and the Neighbourhood Plan 
policy approaches is clear as in several 
respects the policy is a hybrid policy. Other 
consequential and layout modifications to the 
policy are also needed. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

91



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 7: Development in Conservation Areas continued   

At the start of the schedule 1-8 add a heading to read ‘Keymer 
Conservation Area. 
 
At the start of the schedule 9-18 add a heading to read ‘Clayton 
Conservation Area. 
 
Replace numbers 1-18 with bullet points. 
 
The relevant parts of the Policy will read as follows: 
 
Development proposals which seek to preserve or enhance in the 
Keymer Conservation Area and Clayton Conservation Area will be 
supported assessed against Policy DP35 of the Mid Sussex District 
Plan and Policy SD15: in the South Downs Local Plan. 
The following special features have been identified in the Keymer 
Conservation Area: 
The following special features have been identified in the Clayton 
Conservation Area: 
 In particular development proposals should have regard to the 
following special features: 
 

See above. See above. 

Policy 9: Character and Design   

Replace the opening part of the policy with: 
‘Development proposals will be supported where they have regard to 
the Hassocks Townscape Appraisal, and where their character and 
design takes account of the following design principles as appropriate 
to the nature, scale and location of the particular proposal: 
 
In the sixth criterion replace ‘significant’ with ‘unacceptable’. 
 
 
 

For clarity as required by the NPPF. Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

92



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 9: Character and Design continued   

The relevant parts of the Policy will read as follows: 
Development proposals will be supported where they have regard to 
the Hassocks Townscape Appraisal, and where their character and 
design takes account of the following design principles as appropriate 
to the nature, scale and location of the particular proposal are in line 
with the Townscape Appraisal, and where the character and design: 
 
Does not cause significant unacceptable harm to the amenities of 
existing nearby residents and future occupants of new dwellings, 
including taking account of the impact on privacy, outlook, daylight, 
sunlight and security; 
 

See above. See above 

Policy 10: Protection of Open Space   

Replace 1/2/3/4/5 with bullet points. 
 
In the first part of the policy (second sentence) replace ‘is to be of’ with 
‘should be’ 
 
In the second component of the policy replace the opening part with: 
‘The neighbourhood plan identifies the following areas of public space. 
They are shown on the Proposals Map:’ 
 
The relevant parts of the Policy will read as follows: 
 
Development proposals, which provide a mix of formal and informal 
open space to meet local need, will be supported. Open space is to be 
of should be high quality and serve local need. 
 
The Proposals Map identifies the following areas of public open space: 
The neighbourhood plan identifies the following areas of public space. 
They are shown on the Proposals Map: 
 

For clarity as required by the NPPF. Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

93



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 11: Outdoor Play Space   

Replace ‘will be required to’ with ‘should’.  
At the end of the first sentence add: ‘on the site concerned’. 
In the second sentence replace ‘This should…site, or’ with ‘Where on 
site provision is not practicable’ and ‘community facilities’ with ‘play 
areas and associated equipment’. 
 
The relevant parts of the Policy as amended will read as follows: 
Development proposals of 5 or more homes will be required to should 
provide play areas and associated equipment. This should be 
preferably provided on site or alternatively Where on site provision is 
not practicable financial contributions should be provided towards both 
the provision and long term maintenance of off site community facilities 
play areas and associated equipment. 

This is to take account of the flexibility that may 
exist for new developments to contribute 
towards more substantial facilities off site but 
within close proximity to the development 
concerned and to comply with Paragraph A 2.9 
of Appendix 2 of MSDC’s Infrastructure, 
Development and Contributions 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

Accept modification 

Policy 13: Education Provision   

In the first part of the policy delete ‘two-form entry’. 
Delete the second part of the policy. 
Reposition the second part of the policy so that it sits as a second part 
of Aim 2. 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
The provision of a two-form entry primary school within the Parish will 
be supported. 
The Parish Council will work with the Local Education Authority, Mid 
Sussex District Council, and developers to ensure a school is provided 
to meet growing demand in the Parish and in accordance with other 
policies in the HNP. 
Aim 2: Education Facilities 
Support will be offered for the delivery of adequate education facilities 
to meet the needs of all ages of the local resident population. The 
Parish Council will work with the Local Education Authority, Mid Sussex 
District Council, and developers to ensure a school is provided to meet 
growing demand in the Parish and in accordance with other policies in 
the HNP. 

The mention of a two form entry is already 
satisfactorily addressed in the supporting text. 
In any event the organisation and the intake 
policy of a new school is not a land use matter. 
The second part of the policy would be better 
repositioned into Aim 2.  

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

94



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 14: Residential Development   

Replace points 3-7 inclusive with ‘they are in accordance with Policy 
DP6 of the Mid Sussex District Plan, Policy SD25 of the South Downs 
Local Plan and Policy 1 of this Plan. 
 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
 
Development proposals for residential development outside of the built-
up area of Hassocks will be supported where they are in accordance 
with Policy DP6 of the Mid Sussex District Plan, Policy SD25 of the 
South Downs Local Plan  and Policy 1 of this Plan: 
3. The proposed development is for fewer than 10 dwellings; and 
4. The site is contiguous with an existing built-up area of the settlement; 
and 
5. The site is outside of the South Downs National Park; and 
6. The development is demonstrated to be sustainable, including by 
reference to Hassock’s position in the settlement category hierarchy of 
MSDP Policy DP6; 
and 
7. The development is located within the Local Gap, it complies with the 
criteria of Policy 1: Local Gap. 

The second part of the policy is over-
complicated and largely repeats other policies 
in either the District Plan (fewer than 10 
dwellings, contiguous with the built-up area), 
policies in the South Downs Local Plan, and 
within the neighbourhood plan (the Local Gap 
policy).  

Accept modification 

Policy 15: Hassocks Golf Club   

Delete criteria 1 and 8. 
In criterion 3 replace ‘Allow for the retention of’ with ‘Retain’ 
 
In criterion 5 replace ‘suitable’ with ‘appropriate’ 
 
In criterion 6 replace ‘Protect’ with ‘Safeguard’ 

For clarity as required by the NPPF. The first 
criterion which relates to the Local Gap is 
unnecessary as the Golf Club, as identified on 
the Proposals Map, is outside the Local Gap. 
In any event any development which may be 
proposed adjacent to the Golf Course site in 
the Local Gap would be assessed against the 
contents of Policy DP13 of the District Plan 
and Policy 1 of this Plan. Criterion 8 which 
refers to the details of the maintenance of open 
space is not directly a land-use matter. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

95



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 15: Hassocks Golf Club continued   

Policy as amended will read as follows: 
Residential development proposals on land at Hassocks Golf Club (as 
identified on the Proposals Map) will be supported where proposals: 
1. For residential development do not extend into the Local Gap (as 
identified on the Proposals Map); 
2. Protect ancient woodland; 
3. Allow for the retention of Retain existing mature trees and hedges; 
4. Protect and do not adversely affect heritage assets, including Friars 
Oak House and its rural setting; 
5. Provide an suitable appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes to 
meet the needs for current and future households; 
6. Protect Safeguard the amenity of existing residential properties 
bordering the site; 
7. Provide a mix of high quality formal and informal open space; 
8. Include details for the maintenance of public open space; 
9. Provide land to the west of Belmont Recreation Ground for 
formal/informal open space; 
10. Provide suitable access and parking; and 
11. Maximise opportunities to facilitate and provide the increased use 
of alternative means of transport to private non-carbon fuelled vehicles. 

See above See above 

Policy 16: Land to the North of Clayton Mills and Mackie Avenue   

Delete criteria 1/3/8. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For clarity as required by the NPPF. The first 

criterion which relates to the Local Gap is 
unnecessary as the strategic site, as identified 
on the Proposals Map, is outside the Local 
Gap. Criterion 3 (transfer of land to the Parish 
Council) is not directly a land-use matter. In 
terms of criterion 8 (reference to the South 
Downs National Park), the strategic allocation 
has already been assessed for its impact on 
the landscape in its allocation in the District 
Plan. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

96



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 16: Land to the North of Clayton Mills and Mackie Avenue 
continued 

  

Policy as amended will read as follows: 
 
Land to the north of Clayton Mills and Mackie Avenue is allocated as a 
Strategic Development in MSDP Policy DP 11. Development Proposals 
on this site will be supported where they accord with MSDP DP 11. 
To ensure the site is developed in line with the Vision and Strategic 
Objectives of the HNP, HPC will support proposals which: 
1. Do not extend into the Local Gap (as identified on the Proposals 
Map); 
2. Provide a greenspace buffer on the northern periphery of the site to 
form a defensible boundary and to prevent coalescence with Burgess 
Hill; 
3. Transfer land within the greenspace buffer to the Parish Council; 
4. Protect the amenity of existing residential properties bordering the 
site; 
5. Provide a suitable mix of dwelling type and sizes to meet the needs 
of current and future households; 
6. Protect existing Public Rights of Way within, and adjacent to, the site 
and their open aspect through suitable landscaping; 
7. Provide and enhance safe pedestrian and cycle routes from 
Hassocks village centre to Burgess Hill via the development site; 
8. Do not detract from, or cause detriment to, the special qualities and 
tranquility of the South Downs National Park (in line with HNP Policy 6); 
9. Protect the setting of the nearby heritage asset; 
10. Protect existing open space to the south of the strategic allocation; 
11. Provide a mix of high quality formal and informal open space; 
12. Provide suitable access and parking arrangements; and 
13. Maximise opportunities to facilitate and provide the increased use 
ofalternative means of transport to private non-carbon fuelled vehicles. 
 
 

See above. See above. 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

97



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 17: Affordable Housing   

Delete the second and third components of the policy. 
 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
 
 
Residential development proposals should provide a mix of affordable 
housing sizes, types and tenures aligned to meet the needs of the 
Parish. 
 
When allocating the first letting of a home within a new development of 
general needs housing, priority will be given to bids from applicants 
who have a local connection to the parish of Hassocks. In order to 
establish a local connection, the applicant(s) must meet one of the 
following criteria: 
1. Resides in the Parish of Hassocks as their only, or principal home, 
and has done so for the previous 2 years; or 
2. Has resided in the Parish of Hassocks as their only, or principal 
home, for a period of at least 3 years in aggregate out of the preceding 
5 years; or 
3. Is in paid employment in the Parish of Hassocks (working 16 hours 
or more a week) and has been for the previous 2 years; or 
4. Has close relatives who reside in the Parish of Hassocks as their 
only, or principal home, and have done so for at least the previous 5 
years, or the previous 2 years if the Applicant is aged 65 or over. 
 
Larger new developments containing 250 homes or more in total are 
intended to meet the housing needs of the whole District and are 
therefore exempt from the local connection criteria above. 
 
 
 
 

The second and third parts of the policy do not 
meet the basic conditions tests. The second 
part is an expression of the MSDC Housing 
Allocation Scheme (April 2018). Whilst the 
provision of affordable housing is a land use 
matter its allocation is not land use matter. In 
any event paragraphs 6.42 to 6.44 of the 
supporting text properly describe the local 
circumstances which apply in Mid Sussex. 
  
The third part of the policy addresses a 
strategic matter and which overlaps with the 
Housing Allocation Scheme. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

98



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Policy 18: Village Centre   

In the first part of the policy replace ‘seek to’ with ‘would’ 
 
In the second part of the policy delete ‘This will include…to’. At the end 
of this part of the policy add ‘will be particularly supported’ 
 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
 
Development proposals which seek to enhance the character and 
sense of place of the central retail and commercial area of Hassocks 
will be supported. 
 
This will include, but is not limited to, pProposals to enhance parking 
facilities, traffic flow, pedestrian and cycling facilities, shop frontages, 
green spaces, public realm and signage will be particularly supported. 

In the interests of clarity. Accept modification 

Policy 19: Tourism   

Replace ‘provided’ with ‘where’ and ‘the’ with ‘their’ 
 
Include ‘character and appearance of the’ before ‘local area’ 
 
Policy as amended will read as follows: 
 
Development proposals, which promote tourism activities and include 
overnight accommodation, will be supported provided where the their 
siting, scale, and design has regard to, and reflects the character and 
appearance of the local area. 
 

 Accept modification 

Other Matters - General   

Modification of general text (where necessary) to achieve consistency 
with the modified policies. 

It is considered appropriate for MSDC, the 
SDNPA and the Parish Council to have the 
flexibility to make any necessary consequential 
changes to the general text as a result of the 
recommended modifications 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

99



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

The Plan Period   

On the front cover of the Plan (after ‘Plan’) and in paragraph 1.1 identify 
that the Plan period is 2014 to 2031. 
 

For clarity purposes and to ensure this matter 
should be more clearly expressed in the Plan 

Accept modification 

Proposals Map   

Replace the Proposals Map with a Policies Map produced to the same 
scale and clarity as Map 12/12a in the District Plan. 

The submitted Plan has addressed a series of 
complex matters. Its various policies are 
shown on a single Proposals Map which is 
complicated to understand. This is reinforced 
as several of the proposed designations 
overlap. In addition, the map is of a scale 
which does not provide the clarity required for 
a development plan document. 

Accept modification 

Foreword   

Delete Foreword or update its contents so that it relates to the 
referendum stage of the plan-making process. 

The Fore word includes several general 
statements about the role and purpose of 
neighbourhood plans. Some of its statements 
are factually correct. Others are potentially 
misleading. It has primarily been designed as 
an explanation of the role of the 
neighbourhood plan to local residents. It also 
seeks comments through what was the 
submission consultation process. In the event 
that the Plan proceeds to referendum and is 
made it will need to be substantially updated or 
deleted. In that context the Introduction 
provides an appropriate context for the Plan at 
that stage. 

Accept modification 

Introduction   

Replace paragraphs 1.12 and 1.13 with: ‘The South Downs Local Plan 
was adopted in July 2019’ 

To update the plan as since the 
Neighbourhood Plan was prepared the South 
Downs Local Plan has been adopted. 

Accept modification 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

100



 

 
 

Examiner’s Recommended Modifications 
 

Justification Decision 

Monitoring and review of the Neighbourhood Plan   

In paragraph 9.2 replace the second sentence with: ‘It will be used to 
determine planning applications’ 
In paragraph 9.3 insert ‘part of the’ between ‘become’ and 
‘Development Plan’ 
Replace paragraph 9.4 with ‘Once part of the development plan the 
Parish Council will monitor the effectiveness of the Plan’s policies’ 
Add a further paragraph (9.7) to read: 
Through its monitoring process the Parish Council will take a view of 
the effectiveness or otherwise of the policies in the Plan. It will also use 
this information to come to a view on the need or otherwise for a full or 
a partial review of the Plan to be undertaken. A key event for the 
consideration of a review process will be the outcome of the adoption of 
the Mid Sussex Sites Allocation Development Plan Document (and any 
implications which may arise from the potential allocation of additional 
sites in Hassocks), the review of the Mid Sussex District Plan starting in 
2021 and any review of the South Downs Local Plan. 
 

The Plan is silent on the need or otherwise for 
any review. Any made neighbourhood plan will 
need to take into account potential changes to 
the wider development plan. In this context 
MSDC is now consulting on its emerging Site 

Allocations DPD and the final version of the 
Site Allocations DPD may be different from the 
October 2019 consultation draft. In addition the 
District Council intends to begin a review of the 
District Plan in 2021 and there will be a future 
review of the South Downs Local Plan. 
Additional text is needed in this part of the Plan 
to draw attention to this matter. 

Accept modification 

 

 

C
abinet - 13 January 2020

101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet - 13 January 2020

Document is Restricted

103

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To confirm Minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 November 2019.
	5 Performance Monitoring for the Second Quarter of 2019/20.
	Performance Monitoring - Appendix A

	6 Approval of the Recommendations Contained in the Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan Examination Report
	Appendix 1 - Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan - Examiner's Report
	Hassocks Neighbourhood Development Plan - Examiner's Report
	Hassocks NP map Extract November 2019 - Appendix 1

	Appendix 2 -Cabinet Report 13-01-20 Hassocks Neighbourhood Plan  - Decison Statement

	8 To confirm the Exempt Minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2019.



